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BRITISH COLUMBIA IN
THE DOMINION: INTRODUCTION

British Columbia bulks large in every way in the

federation of which it forms a part. The import-
ance the province has attained is shown by the amount of
space allotted to it in this work dealing with Canada and
its provinces. The editors have seen fit to give the Pacific
province the same prominence they have given to the older
provinces of the Dominion.

An examination of the contents of this section will show
that the greatest care has been taken by the general editors
with regard to the organization of the material and the selec-
tion of the writers. No department of knowledge concerning
British Columbia has been neglected. Trained specialists
have been chosen for the preparation of the various articles
—men who have made a close study of its general and political
history, its ethnology, the administration of its laws, its
educational development, its forestry, its mining, its fisheries
and its agriculture. The names of the writers and the
subjects are a guarantee that British Columbia has been dealt
with in an accurate and exhaustive manner.

It may be asked, why has British Columbia been studied
at as great length as Ontario or Quebec ? Why should a
province that has had a corporate existence of fewer than
fifty years—a province that was formed out of two feeble
colonies, the one but seventeen years old and the other but
eight at the time of their union in 1866—be taken as seriously
as provinces with several centuries of history behind them ?

The answer is that the history of the Pacific province does
’ 3

OF recent years there has been abundant evidence that
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not begin with the union of the colonies of Vancouver Island
and British Columbia, or even with the organization of Van-
couver Island as a crown colony in 1849. Its roots are in
the remote past. Long before any political organization
existed, its island stretches and its mainland were the
theatres of empire-making events.

The beginnings of the history of the north-west coast
were in a way similar to those of the eastern seaboard of
Canada. The explorations of the Cabots, of the Corte Reals,
of Verrazano and of Gomez on the Atlantic coast had their
counterpart in the voyages of Spanish captains who, from
New Spain, timorously felt their way along the Californian
shore until the island fringe of what is now British Columbia
was reached. Then, in the year 1778, the greatest of the
world’s navigators, Captain James Cook, cast anchor in
Nootka Sound. In the wake of Cook came the traders
seeking sea-otter pelts. The codfish of the Atlantic waters
attracted hundreds of mariners to the banks and bays dis-
covered there by the early explorers, and the beaver during
the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries tempted the feet
of traders and trappers to the Arctic seas and to the foothills
of the Rockies. So the sea-otter turned the eyes of commerce
to the north-west coast. This was the magnet that drew
hundreds of sailors to its island-dotted shores. These sailors
and scientific explorers such as Vancouver were to make this
coast known to the world. Trade ever breeds strife, and as
an outcome of trade rivalry rose the Nootka affair and the
Oregon boundary question—the one before the mainland
of British Columbia had been reached, and the other at a
time when from Yerba Buena (San Francisco) to Fort Dur-
ham on Taku Inlet the north-west coast was uninhabited
save by the aborigines, the employees of the Hudson’s Bay
Company, and a lonely, struggling settlement of Americans
in the Willamette valley of Oregon. But the most in-
teresting phases of early north-west coast history are the
founding of New Caledonia and the Columbian district, and
the overland journeys of such men as Mackenzie, Fraser
and Thompson.

The blare of the war bugle has never been heard on the
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north-west coast, save for the faint, half-farcical note at
the time of the San Juan affair ; but the soil of the Pacific
province has been hallowed by the footsteps of a long line of
heroes. Nothing in the history of exploration is more inter-
esting than the dash of Alexander Mackenzie to the Pacific
in 1793, or the tumultuous passage of Simon Fraser to the
shores of the Strait of Georgia in 1808, or the quiet, unob-
trusive scientific work of David Thompson on the Columbia
between 1807 and 1811. The fur-trading explorers played
an important part as empire-builders ; but for their work
another flag than the British might now be waving over
British Columbia and the western boundary of the Dominion
might have been east of the Rockies.

The Pacific Ocean having been reached, the next step was
the establishment of trading-posts in the interior. New
Caledonia, as the region now constituting the northern and
eastern part of the province was called, had its beginning
in 1805, when the Nor'westers commissioned Simon Fraser
to invade the territory west of the Rockies. Fort Me¢Leod
at McLeod Lake marks the commencement of the history
of settlement on the mainland. Gradually the interests of
the company broadened out till its posts dotted the region
from the mouth of the Columbia to the Peace River.
After the North-West and the Hudson's Bay Companies
united in 1821, coast and inland were extensively occupied,
even as far south as San Francisco. Had the Hudson’s Bay
Company been far-sighted, not a foot of this territory need
have been lost. It failed to encourage settlement, though
it should have seen, from the success of agricultural efforts
put forth at Fort Vancouver on the Columbia and elsewhere,
that the soil offered sources of revenue equal to and more
permanent than the fur trade. Keep out settlers it could
not, and with the coming of the Americans in the early
forties and the establishment of a provisional government
under the United States flag, Great Britain lost her hold on
the territory south of the 49th parallel. At this time England
was sending thousands of settlers to the hard conditions
of pioneer life in Upper and Lower Canada. Had she but
directed some of them to the north-west coast, Washington



6 BRITISH COLUMBIA IN THE DOMINION

and Oregon might now be British. Settlement would have
carried greater weight than mere discovery, or the establish-
ment of a trading-post such as Astoria.

Shortly after the Oregon boundary problem was solved the
crown colony of Vancouver Island was formed ; then came
the rush of gold-seekers and the settlement of the mainland,
and another crown colony, that of British Columbia, came
into being ; eight years later, in 1866, came the union of these
two colonies. The new colony formed by this union showed
from its beginning a sturdy, progressive life. Its leaders
were men of action who had been trained under Dr John
McLoughlin and James Douglas, both of whom deserve high
rank as builders of Canada, despite the fact that McLoughlin
in the end threw in his lot with the United States and is now
known to history as the ‘ Father of Oregon.” British Col-
umbia had in its early days a leaven of men matured under
the strict discipline of the Hudson’s Bay Company—men
who had learned to obey and were thus well fitted to rule,
even if inclined at first, like their company, to be autocratic.
A large part of the population was made up of gold-seckers,
many of whom, seeing the possibilities of the colony, made
it their permanent home. There were, too, some who in the
early days had ventured from Great Britain and from the
eastern provinces of Canada round Cape Horn or across the
prairies and through the mountains. The bulk of the popu-
lation was therefore British, speaking the English language
and possessing British ideals. A few had been subjects of
the United States, but these, too, spoke English and were
quickly assimilated. As a result the Pacific province is to-
day intensely British in all its undertakings and aspirations.
Its climate, in many ways so similar to that of Great Britain,
has continued to attract men and women from what is affec-
tionately termed the Old Country.

British Columbia has not reached her present position
without experiencing storm and stress. There was deter-
mined opposition to the union of the colonies, and many
influential men displayed the same spirit against Confedera-
tion. When the federal union of the Dominion was con-
summated, the threatened delay in the construction of the
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transcontinental railway strained Confederation almost to
the breaking point. There were cries for separation, but the
province weathered the storm and remained in the Dominion
family, to the advantage of herself and of Canada as a whole.

When the last spike was driven by Donald Smith (after-
wards Lord Strathcona) in the line of steel uniting in a material
way the Atlantic with the Pacific, a new day dawned for
British Columbia and the Dominion. The efforts put forth
by the latter in the gigantic enterprise and the sacrifices made
showed that the young nation within the Empire was capable
of undertakings of the greatest magnitude. The knowledge
that, though thousands of miles of land and water had to be
passed, a direct route was now open to Europe gave confid-
ence to the Pacific province and made possible the establish-
ment on its shores of a city which in a space of twenty-five
years was to become in population the fourth city in the
Dominion.

It seemed to many in old Canada that the sacrifices made to
build the Canadian Pacific Railway were not worth the mak-
ing, but the Dominion has been repaid a hundredfold. But
for this railway the growth of Canada would have been re-
tarded for many years. That the two new prairie provinces
have come into being and have reached such astonishing pro-
portions in population and wealth, that vessels daily leave
the west coast for the Orient and for the Atlantic ports of
America and of Europe, are the immediate results of British
Columbia’s stand for a faithful fulfilment of the terms under
which it entered Confederation. And now, in 1913, only
twenty-eight years after the completion of the first trans-
continental line of railway, two more lines are being rushed
to completion, and undoubtedlyalong their paths vast stretches
of land will be cultivated, with the resultant development
of the coast cities. For, situated as is the coast, within a
thirty-six hours’ journey from populous centres of prairie life,
its ports must become at once an outlet for the products of
the plains and a source of supply for the dwellers in the
interior of the continent. When the Panama Canal is opened
and cold storage facilities are supplied on the Pacific coast
similar to those on the Atlantic, the beef of the plains, the
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fruit of the orchards of British Columbia, and the fish of her
lakes, rivers and ocean will find their way to Europe, and to
the Orient, where the inhabitants are rapidly adopting Euro-
pean standards of living. This will mean much to both the
province and the Dominion.

During the discussion regarding Confederation an eminent
politician of Ontario spoke of British Columbia as a ‘ Sea of
Mountains.” He seemed to forget that among those moun-
tains nestled lakes, that through them meandered magnifi-
cent rivers—all teeming with fish ; that in the regions around
the lakes and along the river valleys were stretches of rich
land ; that the valleys and mountain-sides were clothed with
forests of fir, cedar, pine, spruce, oak and maple—a timber
wealth unequalled in quantity or quality in any other part
of the world ; that these mountains stood, as it were, on guard
over treasures of gold and silver, copper and lead, iron and
coal ; that at the extreme west of these mountain ranges lay
the ocean, teeming with inexhaustible marine life. He for-
got, too, that this ‘Sea of Mountains ' combined with the
ocean to give to British Columbia a climate unsurpassed by
any in the world.

The history touched on lightly in this general outline and
the natural resources indicated in the preceding paragraph
will be found fully detailed in this work.

Since Confederation was consummated by the completion
of the Canadian Pacific Railway, the life of British Columbia
in the Dominion has been on the whole a pleasant one. There
has been friction between the provincial and federal govern-
ments on several important questions, but peaceful settle-
ments have always been reached, and each year the oppor-
tunities for conflict are becoming less.

It is unwise to assume the réle of a prophet, but the man
would be very short-sighted who could not forecast for British
Columbia an exceptionally high place at no distant day.
The province, with its British name, stands in the same posi-
tion regarding the Pacific Ocean that the British Isles hold
regarding the Atlantic. It possesses the best harbours on
the Pacific coast, it is favourably situated as a distributing
centre for goods coming from Europe or from the Orient, and
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it has a population of workers who on sea or on land are never
thrown out of employment by the severity of the climate.
So far its work has been preparatory. It has been building
for the future, laying the foundations for trade and commerce.
Busy factories will soon be heard on its shores, turning the
abundant raw material of forest and mine into manufactured
articles. It is no mere dream of an enthusiast to see, in the
not distant future, a province on the Pacific equal in popu-
lation to the provinces of Ontario and Quebec, and—owing
to its situation—a province of paramount importance to the
Dominion and to the Empire.

/ Y
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THE PERIOD OF EXPLORATION

I

THE SPANIARDS

URING more than two hundred and sixty years
D after Balboa discovered the Pacific the region now
called British Columbia was but vaguely indicated
on the maps of the ancient cartographers. Little was known
of its climate, inhabitants or resources ; and had it not been
for the mythical Strait of Anian that was supposed to lie
through it or to the north of it, the country might have re-
mained a terra incognita until Mackenzie, Fraser, and Thomp-
son penetrated its wilds from the east. Indeed, until their
arrival the mainland was practically a sealed book—only
the maze of islands that skirt its shores had been visited by
the mariners of Spain, Russia, England, and France.

In a sense, however, the story of British Columbia begins
with Balboa. In 1513, when that adventurer crossed the
mountains of Panama and sighted the Pacific, he laid claim
for Spain not only to the land on which he stood and the
waters which he beheld, but to all the territory washed by
those waters ‘ for all time, past, present, or to come, with-
out contradiction, . . . north and south, . . . from the Pole
Arctic to the Pole Antarctic.” For nearly three centuries
Spain, backed by the papal Bull of 1493, asserted her right to
this vast territory largely on the ground of this preposterous
claim. But it was many years before she put forth strong
efforts to substantiate her claim by discovery and settlement.

In 1520 Magellan sailed through the strait that has since
borne his name and the world became aware that a new
route was open to the rich East, and that a vast continent

of untold wealth, judging from what the Spaniards had dis-
13
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covered in Mexico, stretched from the Strait of Magellan
to the icy regions of the north. Meanwhile Hernando Cortes
had conquered Mexico and the wealth of that kingdom flowed
into the coffers of Spain. Hoping to find other rich regions,
Cortes journeyed to the Pacific side of Mexico in 1523 ; and
at Tehuantepec in Oajaca he established a naval base, intend-
ing to build ships and promote his search for other Mexicos
to the north. A series of misfortunes hampered him in his
preparations and delayed explorations for five years, but in
1528 Pedro Nunez Maldonado, whom Cortes had left in
charge of his arsenal and shipyard, set out from the mouth
of the River Zacatula and examined the coast as far north
as Santiago. Four years later Diego Hurtado de Mendoza
is supposed to have reached the 27th degree of north lati-
tude. In the following year Hernando Grijalva and Diego
Becerra made voyages of exploration. Grijalva does not
seem to have examined the coast, but Becerra pressed north-
ward. In a quarrel with his pilot, Fortuno Ximines, he was
slain. Ximines afterwards made a landing on the Cali-
fornian peninsula at Santa Cruz, where he and those with
him were massacred by Indians. In 1535 Cortes led a strong
expedition consisting of 140 men and 40 horses along the
shore of the Gulf of California and reached the spot where
Ximines had been slain. He formally took possession in
the name of the king of Spain of the region he explored.
Further progress in Pacific exploration was made when
in 1539 Francisco Ulloa sailed round Cape San Lucas and
reached the ocean coast of California. The gulf, which had
hitherto been called the Vermilion Sea, Ulloa named the Sea
of Cortes. On this voyage the 28th degree of north lati-
tude is supposed to have been reached. Meanwhile reports
had been received of a rich country lying between Florida
and the Pacific to the north of New Spain. Mendoza, who
was now viceroy, dispatched a friar named Marcos de Niza
to locate this region. Niza had a fertile imagination, and on
his return reported that he had been successful ; that many
large towns and no fewer than seven populous cities lay
north of the 35th parallel. The chief of these were Cibola
and Tontonteac. According to de Niza gold, silver, and
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precious stones were to be found there in even more pro-
digious quantities than they had been found in Mexico and
Peru. This report for the moment checked coast explora-
tion and the energies of the Spaniards were turned to the
interior of the continent. But Mendoza was soon unde-
ceived and once more directed his energies to the explora-
tion of the Pacific shore. In 1543 two vessels under the
command of Juan Rodriguez Cabrillo sailed from the port
of Navidad. Little is definitely known of Cabrillo’s voyage,
but it is possible that he discovered the port of San Diego,
the Santa Barbara Channel and the Bay of Monterey. In
a storm that overtook his vessel he is thought by some to
have been driven as far north as Point Arena. His pilot,
Bartolome Ferillo, pursued his way still farther to the north
and may have reached latitude 44°. But all is conjecture.
The Spanish mariners lacked skill, and were so badly equipped
with the means of taking their bearings accurately that their
recorded latitudes and longitudes are not reliable.

In the thirty years that had elapsed since Balboa first
sighted the Pacific only the fringe of the southern part of the
North American continent had been surveyed, and some
time was to pass before the Spaniards were to make further
attempts at northward exploration. The work already done
had been most disheartening. The primitive vessels in which
the voyages had been made proved death-traps; in many
instances the commanders and pilots died from scurvy or
exposure, or were shipwrecked or slain by savages. Moreover,
the region that they were endeavouring to penetrate lay
concealed behind fogs and held out but the vaguest promise
of treasure—the sole object of the Spaniards. For over
fifty years after Cabrillo’s voyage no expedition left Mexico
for the north.

Meanwhile a new force appeared in the Pacific. Spain
had been so long unmolested in the vast South Sea that she
felt secure, and without fear of attack loaded her treasure
ships from the mines of Peru and welcomed at the Isthmus
of Panama the galleons laden with the riches of the East.
The famous English freebooter (he can scarcely be desig-
nated by any other name) Francis Drake saw in the Pacific
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a chance of gaining wealth and taking vengeance on the
Spaniards, the enemies of England. In 1577 Drake set sail
for the Pacific with five ships. Two, the Christopher and the
Swan, were lost to him while he was on the Atlantic, a third,
the Marygold, disappeared during a time of storm near
the Strait of Magellan, and a fourth, the Elizabeth, deserted
him and returned to England; but he fearlessly pressed
on into a region where for over half a century Spain had
been strongly entrenched. In the Pelican, with her name
changed to the Golden Hind, Drake entered the South Sea
in September 1578. He swept up the coast with fire and
sword, burning and plundering Spanish towns and capturing
Spain’s richly laden argosies. To return to England by way
of the Strait of Magellan would be dangerous, so Drake
decided upon a course of unparalleled boldness. Some-
where in the dim and misty north lay the Strait of Anian
—a mythical passage from the Pacific to the Atlantic. He
determined to sail northward, discover this strait, and sweep
back in triumph through it to his native land. Nothing
seemed impossible to this audacious mariner. The prow of
the Golden Hind was turned northward, but as the heavily
laden vessel crept up the coast a strong, steady north-west
wind beat upon her and she was soon wallowing in a region
of fogs. The biting cold chilled the mariners to the bone.
The crew became scurvy-smitten, and after reaching a point
claimed by some to have been in latitude 48° by others 43°,
Drake decided to abandon the attempt to reach England by
a northern passage. The vessel’s course was shaped to the
south-east, and in ‘a faire and good bay,” under the 38th
parallel, the vessel rode peacefully at anchor for five weeks.
This bay is now known as Drake’s Bay. Here the crew were
refreshed, and while at this spot Drake formally took pos-
session of the region for the queen of England and named
it New Albion. By this name it was to be known for at
least two hundred years, for, in the instructions given to
Captain Cook in 1776 by the Earl of Sandwich, the first lord
of the Admiralty, there are the words: ‘ You are to .

proceed on as direct a course as you can to the coast of New
Albion, endeavouring to fall in with it in the latitude of 45°
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North.” Drake was thus the first Englishman to land on
the Pacific shore of the North American continent, and his
farthest north was probably at a point beyond that of any
Spanish explorers. He was certainly the first to take pos-
session of the country north of Lower California, and that
apparently with the consent of the inhabitants, who, he reports,
crowned him king of the country. Other freebooters, English
and Dutch, frequented the Pacific during the sixteenth and
seventeenth centuries, but only Drake’s exploits, through
the fact that he laid claim to New Albion for England, have
any bearing on the history of the north-west coast. The
hardy mariner sailed home by way of the Cape of Good
Hope and arrived in England in September 1580, the first
British seaman to circumnavigate the world.

By 1596 the Spaniards were again turning their thoughts
to the north country. In this year Sebastian Vizcaino with
three ships sailed from Acapulco and explored the Sea of
Cortes, by this time known as the Gulf of California ; but
this expedition added nothing of importance to geographical
knowledge. In 1602 Vizcaino again set out from Acapulco
with the object of surveying the west coast of North America.
On January 12, 1603, he had attained the 41st parallel, but
the stormy winter seas prevented his further progress. In
this expedition the T7es Reyes, commanded by Martin
d’Aguilar, was driven northward before the storm. D’Aguilar
sighted the entrance of a large river thought by some author-
ities to be the Columbia. He certainly reached latitude
43° and named Cape Blanco. The crew suffered extreme
hardship, and both d’Aguilar and his pilot, Antonio Flores,
died from exposure before their vessel made San Diego
harbour.

For over a century and a half no other attempt was
made by Spain or any other European power, save Russia
in the extreme north, to explore the North Pacific waters.
Scurvy, cold, and inhospitable shores seem to have deterred
Spanish mariners from venturing into those unfrequented
seas. There was, perhaps, another reason. Rumours were
rife of a Strait of Anian having been discovered, and the
Spanish authorities feared that if such a route through the
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continent or around the north of it were discovered their
security in the Pacific would be at an end, and so until 1774
Spain remained content with exploiting the riches of Mexico
and of South America.

A word is now in place with regard to this mysterious
Strait of Anian. The first mention of it is in 1555, when one
Martin Chake (or Chaque) claimed to have sailed from the
Atlantic coast to the Pacific, arriving at a point north of
California in latitude 59°. In 1574 a mariner named Ladrillo
stated that from a point near Newfoundland he had sailed
from the Atlantic to the Pacific. In 1588 Lorenzo Ferro de
Maldonado, a Portuguese, in a memoir that he presented to
the council of the Indies, made the claim that he had sailed
from the Pacific through seas and channels north of America.
In 1625 a story appeared from the pen of Michael Lok, who
declared that a Greek sailor known to history as Juan de
Fuca, but whose real name was Apostolos Valerianos, had
in 1592 sailed through a broad strait situated between latitudes
47° and 48°. After the discovery of the strait named Juan
de Fuca by Captain Charles William Barkley, this story was
believed to be true and is still given credence by many non-
critical students. A careful examination of Lok’s narrative
shows its absurdity. De Fuca's strait was thirty or forty
leagues wide at its mouth ; the actual strait is not as many
miles wide. The country, too, was ‘ very fruitful and rich
in gold, silver and pearls, and other things, like Nova Spania.’
This, to any one familiar with the strait and the people in-
habiting the country washed by it, is the clearest evidence
that the story was made out of whole cloth either by de Fuca
or by Lok. According to the story, de Fuca, who was in the
service of Spain at the time of his pretended discovery, had
been plundered by the freebooter Cavendish. To obtain
for the old Greek mariner compensation for his losses, and
employment, Lok further states that he had written the
English authorities on his behalf ; but nothing in the archives
of Mexico or Spain or among the state papers of England
shows that such a man as de Fuca ever existed. In 1640
Admiral Bartolomede de Fonte, according to an account
published in 1708, claimed to have sailed from the Atlantic
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to the Pacific by means of a chain of lakes and rivers extend-
ing across the continent. These stories were long believed
by many and had numerous defenders. They were accepted
by some scientists at the time and had not a little influence
on map-making. At a later date the scientific surveys of
Captains Cook and Vancouver definitely put an end to them.
They served their purpose, however, for they kept alive
among mariners the ambition to find a passage from the
Atlantic to the Pacific through or around the continent of
North America; and they prove that Baror Munchausens
were not uncommon during the sixteenth and seventeenth
centuries.

In the meantime, as we shall see later, Russia was
active from the north and had gained a foothold on the
islands in Alaskan waters and on the mainland itself. The
extent of Russia’s explorations was but vaguely known, but
the stories of Russian operations, combined with the powerful
hold England had gained on the eastern shores of North
America, impelled Spain once more to turn her attention to
the region lying north of California, San Blas, on the
west coast of Mexico, was made a base of operations. Here
arsenals, shipyards and warehouses were built, and energetic
preparations were made to send a strong and well-equipped
expedition to survey the coast as far north as the 6oth
degree of latitude. The commander chosen for this expedi-
tion was Don Juan Perez, who was accompanied by Don
Estevan Martinez, whose high-handed action fifteen years
later was to be the cause of ousting Spain from the Northern
Pacific. The explorers sailed in the Sentiago from San Blas
on January 5, 1774. They beat their way northward through
storms and fog, catching occasional glimpses of the coast,
but making no accurate survey, until on July 18 they
reached the Queen Charlotte Islands between latitudes 53°
and 54°. A high mountain on Graham Island was named
San Cristobal, and what is now North Cape they christened
Cape Santa Margarita. About latitude 53° 58’ natives were
seen. These mistrusted the strangers, and although they
paddled about the ship in their canoes, they would not go
on board, and any trading they did was from their vessels.
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Father Crespi, who accompanied Perez on this voyage, gave
a detailed account of these Indians, which is of peculiar
interest as it is the earliest description we have of the
powerful and highly interesting Haida Indians. He writes :

All appeared with the body completely covered, some
with skins of otter and other animals, others with cloaks
woven of wool or hair, . . . and a garment like a cape and
covering them to the waist, the rest of the person being
clothed in dressed skins or the woven woollen clothes of
different colours and handsome patterns. . . . Most of
them wore hats of leaves. . . . The women are clothed
in a similar manner, they wear pendants [labrets] from
the lower lip, which is pierced, a disk painted in colours,
which appeared to be of wood, slight and curved, which
makes them seem very ugly, and at a little distance
they ﬁlppear as if the tongue was hanging out of the
mouth.

Perez does not seem to have had the courage to continue
his journey to the 6oth degree of latitude, but shortly after
leaving the Haida decided to turn southward. Water was
running short, but either through fear of the savages or on
account of not finding a good roadstead, the Spaniards did
not land to replenish their water supply. Southward they
sailed until on August 18 they made a landfall about lati-
tude 49° at a spot Martinez afterwards claimed to be Nootka
Sound. The place was called by them San Lorenzo. From
the description of the coast and the character of the anchorage
found it was clearly not Nootka Sound, but in all probability
a point under Cape Estevan several miles to the south. At
San Lorenzo they were again visited by natives, who were
in many respects like the savages of Queen Charlotte Islands.
A little trade was carried on with these Indians, but no land-
ing was made. From San Lorenzo the Santiago, with a crew
suffering from scurvy and with provisions running low, made
her way for Monterey. On this entire trip no landing was
made on the coast or on any of the islands lying opposite it,
and yet it was mainly on the strength of Perez’s explora-
tions that Spain, in the controversy which later arose, based
her right to occupy Nootka and to prohibit other nations
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from sharing in the trade of the North Pacific between
Lower California and Alaska.

In the following year another and better-equipped expedi-
tion was fitted out for northward exploration. This was
composed of two vessels, the corvette Sanfiago under Lieu-
tenant Don Bruno Heceta with Juan Perez as quarter-
master, and the schooner Felicidad, afterwards called the
Sonora, under Lieutenant Juan Francisco de la Bodega y
Quadra with Alfrez Antonio Maurelle as quartermaster.
The expedition left San Blas on March 16, 1775. Land was
sighted at latitude 48° 26’. The strait reported to have
been discovered by Juan de Fuca was supposed to lie between
latitudes 47° and 48°, and Heceta carefully explored the coast’
and definitely proved that in this region no such strait existed.
A landing was made under Point Grenville in latitude 47°
20". A cross was erected here and formal possession taken
of the country in the name of the king of Spain. This, so
far as has been recorded, was the first time that Europeans
set foot on the north-west coast of North America north
of Drake’s Bay. Here a number of sailors from the Sonore
ventured ashore, only to be massacred by the natives. The
scene of this tragedy was named Punta de Martires (Martyrs’
Point), and an island in the vicinity was called Isla de Dolores
(Isle of Sorrows). At this point twelve years later a number
of sailors from the Imperial Eagle, commanded by Captain
Barkley, suffered a similar fate and the island was then
named Destruction. »

Heceta soon grew weary of buffeting the northern seas
and counselled returning. Perez, Quadra and Maurelle
overcame his objections and it was decided to continue the
northward voyage; but Heceta, after reaching the 3oth
parallel, in a time of storm turned his vessel about and steered
for Monterey. In latitude 48° 17/, from the strong current
sweeping from the shore and the wide opening in the land,
Heceta believed he had discovered a mighty river. This
was the Columbia, of which Jonathan Carver in his wander-
ings in the West in 1766-68 had heard and which he had
named the ‘Oregan,” and the bar of which Gray in the
Columbia Rediviva was to cross seventeen years later.



22 THE PERIOD OF EXPLORATION

Quadra and Maurelle, in their tiny, ill-manned craft,
bravely swept northward and at last sighted a towering
snow-capped mountain, which they named San Jacinto—
the Mount Edgecumbe of Captain Cook. At what is now
Norfolk Sound they were visited by natives. A boat was
sent ashore and an attempt was made to get wood and water
without payment, but this was fiercely resisted by the natives
and the cross that the landing party erected was torn down
in derision as soon as the Spaniards had returned to their
vessel. Farther northward exploration was out of the ques-
tion and a return course was taken. At Port Bucareli, on
the west side of the Prince of Wales archipelago, Quadra
again landed and took possession of the country for Spain.
Storm-shattered, with a scurvy-smitten crew, the little Sonora
staggered back to San Blas, which port she reached on
November 20.

The next important exploring expedition into the North
Pacific was that under the English captain, James Cook;
but before considering his notable voyage one other Spanish
expedition needs to be mentioned. In February 1779 Captain
Ignacio Arteaga in the Princessa, accompanied by Quadra
in the Favorita with the sturdy Maurelle as second officer,
sailed from San Blas. After voyaging for four months the
vessels reached Port Bucareli, where several weeks were spent
replenishing the water supply, equipping the ship and trading
with the natives. Northward they once more directed their
vessels until a tall snow-clad mountain peak towering above
the clouds was sighted. This was Mount St Elias, which
thirty years before had been discovered and named by the
heroic Dane, Vitus Bering. Shortly afterwards it was
decided to turn back, and on November 21 the Princessa
and Favorita cast anchor at San Blas.

The majority of the Spanish expeditions had ended in
disaster. Few of the captains made a landing, and those who
did accomplished but little. They merely touched at isolated
points, and while the general trend of the coast was known,
so poor were their nautical instruments that their landfalls
are inaccurately located. Moreover, what journals the ex-
plorers kept were hidden in the archives of Mexico or Spain
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and the world was little the wiser for the efforts they had
put forth. It was left for Captain Cook and Captain Van-
couver and the fur traders who followed in the wake of
Cook to survey the coast of what is now British Columbia,
and to make known to the world its character and resources,
and the manners and customs of its inhabitants.

IT

CAPTAIN JAMES COOK AT NOOTKA SOUND

RITISH mariners had long been hammering at the ice-
bound seas adjoining Hudson Bay and Davis Strait
in search of a north-west passage to the South Sea.

Parliament had, in 1745, offered a reward of 420,000 for
the discovery of a passage to the Pacific. In 1775, about
the time of Captain James Cook’s return from his second
voyage around the world, it was decided to extend the scope
of this reward. The money had been offered only to com-
manders of vessels who should discover a passage through
Hudson Bay, but it was now decided to open it to ‘any ship
belonging to His Majesty, or his subjects,” which ‘should
find and sail through any passage by sea, between the
Atlantic and Pacific Oceans, in any direction or parallel of
the northern hemisphere, to the northward of the 52d deg. of
northern latitude.” When Cook returned from his notable
second voyage he had been made a post-captain and appointed
one of the captains of Greenwich Hospital, a position that
assured him a liberal income and the rest he needed after
many years of almost continuous battling against difficult
seas. When the subject of the discovery of a passage from
the Pacific came up for discussion he was naturally consulted ;
the greatness of the undertaking took hold of his imagination,
and he volunteered to lead an expedition into the icy seas
known only to the world through the vague reports of the
work done by Vitus Bering and Chirikoff and by the traders
who had ventured to the lands discovered by them. The
Admiralty gladly accepted Cook’s services, and an exploring
and scientific expedition was fitted out to settle definitely the
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question whether the Strait of Anian, of de Fonte, Mal-
donado, and de Fuca, had any real existence.

Captain Cook had already played an important part in
the history of Eastern Canada. It was he who was in charge
of the scout vessels that enabled the fleet bearing Wolfe’s
forces to Quebec to navigate successfully the difficult waters
of the St Lawrence, and he had afterwards surveyed a part
of the coasts of Newfoundland and of Nova Scotia. He was
now to take the initial step in British exploration on the
north-west coast of North America, and by his efforts was
to give England a fighting claim to the western shores of
what is now the Dominion of Canada. In a way Cook was
the greatest of Great Britain’s empire-builders. That the
British ¢ morning drum-beat, following the sun and keeping
company with the hours, circles the earth with one con-
tinuous and unbroken strain of the martial airs of England’
is largely due to the explorations of James Cook on his three
remarkable voyages.

The Admiralty equipped in a most efficient manner the
Resolution, of 462 tons burden and 112 men, and the Discovery,
of 300 tons burden and 8o men. Cook had command of the
expedition and was to sail in the Resolution, while his second
in command, Captain Charles Clerke, was given charge of
the Discovery. Clerke, although a comparatively young man,
was a mariner of great experience, having already circum-
navigated the world on three occasions—as a midshipman
under Commodore Byron (1764-66), as a master’s mate of
the Endeavour under Cook (1768-71), and again under Cook
as second lieutenant of the Resolution (1772-75).

The officials of the Admiralty left nothing undone to
make the expedition a success. Every detail was looked
after ; and while exploration and discovery were uppermost
in their minds, they saw to it that scientific investigation
should not be neglected. The surgeon of the Resolution,
Anderson, was a trained naturalist,and an artistnamed Webber
accompanied the expedition to make sketches of the harbours,
the natives, the animals, and any other things of import-
ance that might be discovered. The instructions were most
explicit. After visiting the regions discovered by him on his
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previous voyage, Cook was to sail from the Pacific islands
direct to the north-west coast of North America and was
to make a landing at New Albion in latitude 45° N. Here
he was to refit his vessels, replenish his ships with wood
and water, and procure refreshment for his crews. He was
then to proceed northward as far as latitude 65°, or farther
if possible. He was to lose no time on the way exploring
inlets or rivers, his aim being to reach latitude 65° in the
month of June. When this point was attained he was to
search diligently for a passage pointing toward Hudson Bay
or Baffin Bay. He was furnished with an Eskimo vocabu-
lary so that he might be able to converse with the natives
of the extreme north. It might happen that his ships would
not be able to sail through the passage if one were discovered,
and he was provided with the frames of two small vessels,
which he could put together and use in case of necessity. If
he failed to find a passage in his first attempt, he was to winter
at the port of St Peter and St Paul (Petropavlovsk) in Kam-
chatka, or wherever else he might judge more proper; in
the spring of the following year he was to make another
attempt, then, whether he failed or succeeded, he was to
return to England ‘ by such route ’ as he might ‘ think best
for the improvement of geography and navigation.” The
coasts visited ‘for the benefit of the navy and commerce’
were to be surveyed, charted, and sketched, and the nature
of the soil and the produce thereof observed. The animals
and the fowl and fish of the regions touched at were to be
noted, likewise the metals, minerals or valuable stones ; and
if any ‘extraneous fossils’ were discovered, specimens of each
were to be brought home, ‘as also the seeds of such trees,
shrubs, plants, fruits, and grains peculiar to those places,
as you may be able to collect.” The genius, temper, dis-
position and number of the natives and inhabitants were
to be observed, and all proper means were to be adopted to
cultivate their friendship. Finally Cook was instructed to
take possession of lands that had not already been visited
by the navigators of other European powers.

On July 12, 1776, the Resolution and the Discovery set
sail from Plymouth Sound. They shaped their course
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around the Cape of Good Hope, passed through the Indian
Ocean, visited Kerguelen Land, Tasmania and New Zealand,
and on January 19, 1778, discovered the Sandwich Islands.
On February 2 the expedition sailed from these islands direct
for New Albion and on March 7 made a landfall in latitude
44° 33’. The explorers stood northward for a time, but a
severe gale drove them back to latitude 42°. When the gale
subsided, the northward course was again taken and land
made at 47° 5'. The appearance of the shore well to the
north promised a good harbour, but the mariners were dis-
appointed and Cook gave vent to his feelings by naming the
spot sighted Cape Flattery. Between latitudes 47° and 48°
search was made for the Strait of Juan de Fuca. No opening
was found, and Cook wrote in his log-book with regard to
this strait: ‘Saw nothing like it : nor is there,” he added,
‘the least possibility that any such thing ever existed.’
While he penned these words, within a day’s sail, under
favourable conditions, lay an arm of the sea deep and broad,
leading to the most picturesque scenery on the western
coast. Had he persevered in his explorations in this quarter
he might have been convinced, as was Captain Barkley nine
years later, that the de Fuca story was a true one; but
storm and sleet kept him from the entrance of the strait, and
he pressed northward until he came within sight of a pro-
mising harbour, lying between the 49th and s5oth parallels.
The region about the bay was full of high mountains, whose
summits were covered with snow. ° But the valleys between
them, and the grounds on the seacoast, high as well as low,
were covered to a considerable breadth with high, straight
trees, that formed a beautiful prospect, as of one vast forest.’
Thus, on March 29, 1778, Nootka Sound was discovered, and
this date marks an important event in the growth of the
British Empire. Through Cook’s discoveries and surveys
England was to have a better title to the region lying between
California and Alaska than Spain, whose mariners, although
they had named headlands and bays along the coast, had up
to this time made no landing on the shores of what is now
British Columbia.

As the vessels approached the inlet the wind fell. Three



CAPTAIN JAMES COOK AT NOOTKA SOUND 27

canoes set out from shore toward the becalmed ships. As
they drew near, the natives in them cast feathers and a red
dust or powder in the air, while one of their number holding
in each hand a rattle, which he kept shaking, uttered a wel-
coming harangue. One native ‘ sung a very agreeable air with
a degree of softness and melody ’ that astonished the explorers.
‘One canoe was remarkable for a singular head, which had
a bird’s eye and bill of enormous size painted on it; and
a person who was in it, who seemed to be a chief, was no
less remarkable for his uncommon appearance, having many
feathers hanging from his head, and being painted in an
extraordinary manner.” On the following day when the
ships came to anchor a fleet of canoes surrounded them
and a brisk trade was carried on. The natives offered in
exchange for the goods which the explorers possessed skins of
‘ bears, wolves, foxes, deer, racoons, polecats, martens ; and in
particular, the sea-otters.” This marks the beginning of the
fur trade on the north-west coast south of Alaska, and was
the most important scene yet enacted in the Northern Pacific.
A steady and lucrative trade was to follow. It was the initial
step in bringing the north-west coast under British rule.

The natives had with them ‘little ornaments of thin brass
and iron, shaped like a horse shoe, which they hang at their
noses ; and several chisels or pieces of iron fixed to handles.’
It was clear from this that they had previously been in con-
tact with Europeans. Whence did they obtain the iron ? It
is not easy to decide, but we know that there was wide trade
between tribes, and that goods of Mexican make have been
found among the Indians of Eastern Canada; so it is quite
possible that the iron weapons and ornaments had passed
from tribe to tribe either from the Russian traders of the
Aleutian Islands or from the settlements of New Spain. The
Indians of Nootka Sound were a savage people, possibly in
some instances given to cannibalism, for Cook records that
¢ the most extraordinary of all the articles which they brought
to the ship for sale were human skulls and hands not yet
quite stripped of the flesh, which they made our people
plainly understand they had eaten; and, indeed, some of
them had evident marks that they had been upon the fire.’
For their furs and other articles the Indians ¢ took in exchange
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knives, chisels, pieces of iron and tin, nails, looking-glasses,
buttons, or any kind of metal.’

Four weeks were spent in Nootka Sound, to which Cook
first gave the name King George’s Sound, but before leaving
the inlet, understanding that the Indians called it Nootka,
he altered the name. The sojourn at this place was a busy
one. Some of the spars and masts had rotted during the
two years since the vessels left Plymouth and new ones had
to be made before they could venture into the northern
region. While the majority of the officers and men were busy
refitting the vessels, Cook explored the west side of the
Sound and, thence crossing to the eastern side, proved that
the land off which his vessels lay was a small island. During
the sojourn at Nootka, Dr Anderson made numerous scien-
tific notes; of particular value are his ethnological observa-
tions on the manners and customs of the natives. At the
same time Webber was busy; the natives, their implements
of war, their household utensils, and other striking features
of their lives and surroundings were sketched. While the
Resolution and the Discovery stayed at Nootka the Indians
behaved in the most friendly manner. In the light of what
we now know of their character it seems very probable that
this friendship was inspired by the powerful armament of
the British ships.

On April 26 the vessels were once more ready for sea and,
dropping out of Nootka Sound, sailed for the polar regions.
Through boisterous gales and seas they beat their way
northward until on May 11, in latitude 60° at Kaye's Island,?
Cook landed, and ‘ at the foot of a tree on a little eminence,
not far from the shore, I left a bottle with a paper in it, on
which was inscribed the names of the ships and the date of
our discovery. And along with it I enclosed two silver two-
penny pieces of His Majesty’s coin of the date 1772 A
careful survey of this part of the coast was made, and then
Cook directed his vessels past Cape Prince of Wales and
thence towards the Asiatic shore. He named the strait
between Alaska and Asia in honour of its first great explorer,
Bering. The northward voyage was continued until latitude
70° 44’ was reached, but here a compact, impenetrable wall

1 Named after the Rev. Dr Kaye, then Dean of Lincoln.
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of ice, black with multitudes of walruses or sea-horses, was
encountered. Cook was now convinced that there was no
passage through the continent south of latitude 72°, and
this voyage of 1778 had thus the effect of going far towards
settling the myth of the Strait of Anian. Cook sailed for
a time along the Asiatic shore, then visited the Aleutian
Islands, and in September set out for the Sandwich Islands,
where in February he was murdered by natives. Thus
ended the career of a naval officer who occupies the same
place in exploration that Nelson occupies in naval warfare ;
the one displayed the British flag on every sea, the other
gave Great Britain a supremacy on the ocean that was to
make secure her widely scattered empire.

Captain Clerke now took command of the expedition
and Lieutenant Gore was given charge of the ship Discovery.
In 1779, following out the instruction of the Admiralty,
Clerke decided to make another effort to find a passage
leading to the Atlantic. This young captain—he was only
thirty-eight—was of heroic mould. At this time he was
suffering from consumption, and it was almost suicidal for
him to venture into the northern seas, but he obeyed the
voice of duty. The expedition reached 70° 30’, when further
progress was prevented by an ice barrier similar to the one
met with in the preceding year. The ships were headed
for Kamchatka, and there at Petropavlovsk Captain Clerke
died. Captain Gore then took command of the expedition
and Lieutenant King was placed in charge of the Discovery.
It was decided to return to England by way of China and
the Cape of Good Hope, and on October 4, 1780, the two
sturdy vessels with their weather-beaten crews reached the
Nore, after a trying voyage of over four years. So wisely
did Cook and his officers look after the health of their men
on this famous expedition that only five were lost through
sickness, three of whom were ill before leaving England.
The Discovery during four years had not suffered the loss of
a single member of her crew.

The voyage of the Resolution and the Discovery had a
threefold interest. It gave England good ground for laying
claim by right of discovery and survey to the north-west
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coast of North America; it trained a number of future
explorers and traders such as Vancouver, Broughton, Colnett,
Portlock, and Dixon, who were with Cook, to North Pacific
conditions ; and it marked the beginning of the trade in
sea-otter pelts on the north-west coast.

III

WEST COAST FUR TRADE

HEN the Discovery and the Resolution reached Macao
on their return trip to England, the sailors found that
the furs secured at Nootka Sound, particularly the

sea-otter pelts, were a valuable asset. Skins that they had
bought for a few glass beads sold in some instances for over a
hundred dollars. A sum equal to about ten thousand dollars
was realized for the furs the vessels had collected in the
brief stay at Nootka Sound. The sailors were for returning
at once to the north-west coast, and Gore proposed that the
East India Company should enter vigorously on the sea-
otter trade, but it was not until 1785 that further attempt
was made to exploit the wealth of furs to be gathered at
Nootka Sound. When the expedition returned to England
there was delay in publishing the account of the voyage,
and it was only in 1784 that the commercial world became
fully alive to the possibilities of the sea-otter trade.

The first voyage to Nootka Sound solely for furs was
made in 1785 by Captain James Hanna in a vessel of sixty
tons, but the fur trade is dealt with elsewhere?! and will be
considered here only in so far as those engaged in it explored
the coast and charted new lands. Hanna, in his first voyage,
apparently made straight for Nootka Sound, loaded his
vessel, and returned without adding anything of importance
to north-west coast history. In the following year the
Captain Cook and the Experiment, commanded respectively
by Captains Lowrie and Guise, arrived at Nootka. A month
was spent on the Sound and then a northward course was
taken. When the expedition was ready to sail from Nootka

1 See * Economic History ’ in this section.
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the surgeon, John Mackey, who was suffering from scurvy,
was left behind at his own request to recover his health,
and incidentally to gain a knowledge of the region and of
the language of the natives.

The Captain Cook and the Experiment reached the north
end of Vancouver Island, examined a portion of Queen
Charlotte Sound, skirted the coast of the mainland to Princess
Royal Islands, then, turning westward, rounded Cape St
James at the south end of Queen Charlotte Islands and
cruised northward until on August 29 the north end of
Graham Island was reached. Somewhere between the
southern and northern ends of Queen Charlotte Islands they
passed in a heavy fog the vessels of La Pérouse, the first
French explorer to venture into the waters of the North
Pacific. A rough chart of the route was prepared, a chart
that was to be of great aid to future expeditions.

In August of the same year Hanna again arrived at
Nootka, this time in the Sea-Otter of one hundred and
twenty tons. He had rivals in the field and furs were scarce
at the Sound, so he sought them in more northern waters.
In the course of this voyage he entered and named Smith
Sound and Fitzhugh Sound, and also located and named
Virgin Rocks and Peril Rocks; the latter was afterwards
placed on Vancouver’'s chart as Pearl Rocks. Also, in
July of this year two of the members of Cook’s expedition
appeared upon the north-west coast— Captain Nathaniel
Portlock, who had been a master’s mate under Cook and
was now in command of the King George, and Captain George
Dixon, former armourer of the Discovery, who was now com-
manding the Queen Charloite. These vessels spent three
years trading along the coast from Prince of Wales Island
to Vancouver Island, making, as Dixon—after whom Dixon
Entrance was named—wrote, considerable additions to the
geography of the coast. How vague was the knowledge of
the traders regarding the region can be gathered from
Dixon’s remarks : ‘ So imperfectly do we still know it [the
coast] that it is in some measure to be doubted whether we
have yet seen the mainland ; certain it is that the coast
abounds with islands, but whether any land we have seen is
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really the continent remains to be determined by future
navigators.’

The British parliament had granted the East India
Company a monopoly of the trade in the South Sea, and
this included the north-west coast of North America. To
avoid the necessity of obtaining a licence from the company
the owners of the ship Loudoun, who were, in fact, connected
with the company, and were making preparations to trade
on their own behalf, changed the name of the vessel and
called her the Imperial Eagle, and decided to sail her under
the Austrian flag. On this ship Captain Charles William
Barkley sailed from Ostend for the north-west coast in the
autumn of 1786, taking with him his young wife, the first
European woman to appear on the waters washing Vancouver
Island. The Imperial Eagle reached Nootka Sound in June
1787. When the vessel cast anchor the traders were sur-
prised by a visit from a white man dressed in native garb.
This was Mackey, who had been left at Nootka in the pre-
vious year. Mackey accompanied Barkley on his expedi-
tion southward past Clayoquot and Barkley Sounds, and
as he knew the best places for obtaining sea-otter skins, and
was familiar with the native language, he was of invaluable
service. Towards the end of July, as the Imperial Eagle
sailed southward, skirting the shores of Vancouver Island, a
wide strait opened before the astonished and delighted gaze
of the traders. This was evidently the strait about which
rumour had been rife for nearly one hundred and fifty years
—the long-lost strait of Juan de Fuca. Believing this to be
the case, Barkley charted it under that name. Mrs Barkley,
in a careful diary she kept of the voyage, thus narrates the
discovery of the strait :

In the afternoon, to our great astonishment we arrived
off a large opening extending to the eastward the entrance
of which appeared to be about four leagues wide, and
remained that width as far as the eye could see, with a
clear easterly horizon, which my husband immediately
recognized as the long-lost strait of Juan de Fuca, and to
which he gave the name of the original discoverer, my
husband placing it upon his chart.
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The Imperial Eagle had on board a rich supply of furs,
and, as her captain was but little interested in exploration,
no attempt was made to navigate the strait, Barkley being
content with a passing glimpse of its wide waters. A south-
ward course was kept, and at latitude 47° 43, at the mouth
of the River Ohahlat or Hoh, a landing was made to collect
more pelts. It was at this point, near Destruction Island,
as previously stated, that the natives murdered a number
of the crew of the Imperial Eagle, including the mate and
the purser. Shortly after this tragedy the ship set sail for
China. Besides the discovery of the Strait of Juan de Fuca,
Barkley seems to have gathered information that was to
have a profound influence on further exploration from
Mackey, who, from the reports of the natives and from his
own observations during excursions he had made into the
country about Nootka Sound, was led to believe that the
region known as Nootka was not a part of the mainland, but
was separated from the continent of America by ‘a chain
of detached islands.’

No name stands out more prominently among the early
fur traders of the Pacific than that of Captain John Meares.
This mariner’s first voyage to the north-west coast was
made in the year 1786 in the Nootka. He had previously
sent the Sea-Olter under Captain Tipping to North America.
When Meares arrived at Prince William Sound he found
that the Sea-Otter had left for the north, and the next news
he had of the vessel was that she had been wrecked some-
where on the coast of Kamchatka. He spent a year trading
with the natives in the region of Prince William Sound, and
in the autumn of 1787 returned to China. On this voyage
he apparently touched at no part of what is now the coast
of British Columbia.

In January 1788 Meares sold the Nootka, and, in partner-
ship with several merchants connected with the East India
Company and who were not above trading on their own
account without the permission or knowledge of the cor-
poration, purchased two vessels, the Felice and the Iphi-
genia. At this time all vessels trading with China, save
those under the Portuguese flag, had to pay heavy port
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charges. To avoid these charges, to use the words of Meares
himself, he and his associates had

obtained the name of Juan Cawalho to their firm, though
he had no actual concern in the stock ; that Cawalho,
though by birth a Portuguese, had been naturalized
at Bombay. . . . That the intimacy existing between
Cawalho and the governor of Macao had been the
principal cause of their forming this nominal connection,
and that Cawalho had in consequence obtained his per-
mission that the two ships above mentioned, in case it
should be found convenient to do so, should be allowed
to navigate under, or claim any advantages granted to,
the Portuguese flag.

Thus the expedition carried with it a Portuguese who, in case
of necessity, could act as leader, while the real leaders appeared
as supercargoes. This duplicity excuses in a measure the
act of Martinez in seizing the Iphigenia in 1789. There was
undoubtedly another reason why the Portuguese flag was
used—a similar reason to that which inspired the owners
of the Imperial Eagle to sail her under the Austrian flag—
that the necessity of obtaining a trader’s licence from the
East India Company would be avoided. Meares and his
associates were most unscrupulous traders, and unfortunately
every act of Meares is marked with duplicity.

The Felice, commanded by Meares, and the Iphigenia,
in charge of Captain William Douglas, reached Nootka on
May 13, 1788. The traders received an enthusiastic welcome
from the Indians ruled by Chief. Maquinna—called Maquilla
by Meares—and from Chief Callicum. When the vessels cast
anchor, the scene enacted on the arrival of Cook ten years
before was repeated. Meares gives a detailed account of the
natives, and although much of the narrative of his voyage
is unreliable, he could have no reason to write otherwise than
truthfully about the welcome extended to him by the Indians.
His description of their singing shows that in respect to this
art the natives of the north-west coast were the superiors of
any other Indians in North America. Meares writes :

We listened to their song with an equal degree of sur-
prise and pleasure. It was, indeed, impossible for any ear



CALLICUM AND MAQUILLA (MAQUINNA), CHIEFS OF
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susceptible of delight from musical sounds, or any mind
not insensible to the power of melody, to remain unmoved
by this solemn, unexpected concert. The chorus was
in unison, and strictly correct as to time and tune ; nor
did a dissonant note escape them. Sometimes they
would make a sudden transition from the high to the low
tones, with such melancholy turns in their variations,
that we could not reconcile to ourselves the manner in
which they acquired or contrived this more than untaught
melody of nature. There was also something for the eye
as well as the ear, and the action that accompanied their
voices added very much to the impression which the
chanting made upon us all. Everyone beat time with
undeviating regularity against the gunwale of the boat
with their paddles ; and at the end of every verse they
pointed with extended arms to the north and south,
gradually sinking their voices in such a solemn manner as
to produce an effect not often attained by the orchestras
of European nations.!

It must indeed have struck the mariners as an astonishing
entertainment, especially as the greater part of the performers
were ‘clothed in the most beautiful skins of the sea-otter
which covered them from their necks to their ankles. Their
hair was covered with the white down of birds, and their
faces bedaubed with red and black ochre.’

Meares at once proceeded to carry out his intention of
establishing a permanent post at Nootka, and according to
Robert Dutton, first officer of the Felice, he purchased the
land about Friendly Cove, a snug harbour at the entrance
of the Sound, from Maquinna ‘for eight or ten sheets of
copper and several other trifling articles.” On this land a
substantial house of two storeys was erected. A breastwork
was thrown up about it and a cannon was placed in such a
position as to protect it from attack, either from the water-
front or from Nootka village. Meares had brought Chinese
carpenters with him, and these were set to work at once to lay
the keel of a vessel. A few days were spent trading with the
Indians ; then, leaving a part of his crew to man the newly
constructed fort and to complete his vessel, Meares left

1 Meares’s Voyages.
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Nootka on a trading expedition southward. The Iphigenia
likewise departed and voyaged north to trade and to chart
the coast as far as Cook’s River.

The Felice sailed first to Clayoquot Sound, where the
traders were welcomed by Wicaninish, the chief ruling over
that district. After securing a number of fine sea-otter pelts,
Meares continued his southward voyage. On June 29 the
Felice arrived at the entrance of the strait discovered and
charted by Barkley. In his account of the voyage Meares
speaks of the strait as being from twelve to fourteen leagues
wide—the clearest evidence that he did not enter it, as its
width is only between fifteen and twenty miles. He adds,
however : ‘ The strongest curiosity impelled us to enter this
strait which we called by the name of its original discoverer,
Juan de Fuca.' At this time Meares was fully cognizant
of Barkley's discovery. He was in China when Barkley
arrived there after his celebrated voyage and was now em-
ployed by the very men who owned the Imperial Eagle.
‘Moreover, Mrs Barkley advances indisputable evidence that
Meares was well informed regarding her husband’s voyage
and asserts that ‘Captain Meares got possession of my
husband’s journal and plans.” Without entering the strait
Meares continued down the coast, searching for a river of
which he had heard, the Columbia. Failing to find this
river he retraced his course, and on July 12 the Felice dropped
anchor in Barkley Sound. Meares now sent Robert Dutton
in a longboat to explore the strait, but Dutton got only as far
as Port San Juan (Port Renfrew) when his little vessel was
viciously attacked by natives and he was compelled to beat
a hasty retreat. Meares once more displays his lack of
veracity by recording that Dutton * had sailed thirty leagues
up the strait’ Dutton’s journal proves this statement a
false one.

On July 29 Meares was back at his headquarters at
Friendly Cove. Meanwhile the Iphigenia had arrived in port
with a goodly supply of furs from the north, and Captain
Gray had also appeared at Nootka in the Lady Washington.
These captains and their crews took part in the demonstra-
tion connected with the launching of the new vessel which
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had just been completed—the North-West America, the first
vessel, save the canoes of the natives, that was constructed
on the shores of what is now the Province of British Columbia.

Meares now took on board the Felice all the furs that had
been collected during the season and sailed for China. He
instructed the Iphigenia and the North-West America to
remain on the coast until autumn and then to sail to the
Sandwich Islands to winter. Meares’s venture had proved
so successful that when he reached China the company for
which he operated decided to send two additional vessels to
Nootka in 1789—the Princess Royal, Captain Hudson, and
the Argonaut, Captain Colnett.

The Princess Royal had already visited the coast under
the command of Captain Charles Duncan. In July 1787
this diminutive craft and her consort, the Prince of Wales,
under Colnett, first arrived at Nootka. Barkley had
depleted the vicinity of furs, and the vessels therefore sailed
northward and spent the summer trading at the Queen
Charlotte Islands. In August of the following year Duncan
was once more off the coast near Nootka Sound, where he
was visited by Meares. On August 15 he reached the Indian
village of Classet on the south side of the Strait of Juan de
Fuca, a short distance east of Cape Flattery. This was the
farthest point in the strait yet reached by any trader or
explorer. While at Classet Duncan learned from the Indians
that a broad sea lay at the eastern end of the strait. Accord-
ing to them this sea ‘ ran a great way up to the northward,
and down to the southward.” This is the first definite in-
formation we have regarding the waters afterwards named
Puget Sound and the Strait of Georgia.

In 1787 a trading and exploring expedition was fitted out
in Boston for the north-west coast. This consisted of a
square-rigged two-decker, the Columbia, two hundred and
twelve tons, Captain John Kendrick, and a sloop, the
Lady Washington (afterwards converted into a brig), ninety
tons, Captain Robert Gray. The vessels arrived at Nootka
Sound in 1788, and the United States flag was for the first
time unfurled in North Pacific waters. The American
captains decided to take the unusual course of wintering in
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the Sound. In the following summer Gray explored much
of the coast, but added little to geographical knowledge. At
the close of the season the commanders agreed to exchange
ships, and Kendrick took command of the Lady Washington,
while Gray in the Columbia sailed for Canton and sold his
furs, and, taking on board a cargo of tea, returned to Boston.

During the dispute regarding the Nootka Affair it was
asserted by Meares that Kendrick had circumnavigated
Vancouver Island in 1789. This assertion might be dis-
missed with the brief statement that it is one of Meares’s many
fabrications, but it later played such an important part in
the Oregon Boundary dispute and was so widely believed,
especially in the United States, that it demands at least
passing notice.

All the evidence is against the claim. Meares is the only
authority for it, and he acknowledges that he had his infor-
mation second-hand, information of the vaguest kind, and
very possibly manufactured by himself to strengthen his
claim for damages against the Spaniards. Neither Kendrick
nor any of his friends or acquaintances or any members of his
expedition ever hinted at such a voyage, and several of the
Boston traders of 1789-90 have left records proving the false-
ness of Meares’s assertions. When Vancouver met Gray in
1792 in the Strait of Juan de Fuca, the American captain was
greatly surprised to learn that such a story as the circum-
navigation of Vancouver Island by the Lady Washington was
abroad. He certainly knew nothing about such a voyage.
Kendrick’s voyage is in the same category as those of de
Fonte and de Fuca, and its details were no doubt con-
structed by Meares on the information he had gathered from
the Indians and others regarding the eastern side of the
region known as Nootka.

Of greater importance was the work of Gray in the
Columbia in 1792. Gray arrived at Clayoquot in June 1791
and spent the summer trading. In the following spring be
set out to find a river which he had reason to believe de-
bouched into the Pacific about latitude 46°. Gray, it may
be stated, had already, in 1789, in the Lady Washington,
penetrated farther than any previous explorer into the Strait
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of Juan de Fuca—probably for a distance of fifty miles.
He now sailed past the entrance to the strait and, sweeping
southward, came to the mouth of the river of his search.
On May 11 he crossed the bar and proceeded upstream for
about ten miles. The shallowness of the river and the
difficulties of its navigation prevented him, according to his
account, from cruising farther up its waters. This river he
named the Columbia, after his vessel. The discovery of the
Columbia was an important event, and some fifty years later
was much in evidence in the Oregon Boundary dispute.

There were other voyages of minor importance during
the years dealt with. Robert Funter in the North-West
America had visited Queen Charlotte Sound and charted
part of the coast; Joseph Ingraham in the brigantine Hope
had in 1791 sailed along the Queen Charlotte Islands on both
the east and west sides and charted the coast with a remark-
able degree of accuracy. Thus, through the work of the
early fur traders, the general character of the north-west
coast was gradually becoming known; but there was still
much to be done. Only the island fringe had yet been ex-
plored to any extent.

It is now necessary to deal with a question of the greatest
importance in early north-west coast history, a question
which overlaps the story of the voyages of the last three
years just narrated—the Nootka Affair.

v

THE NOOTKA AFFAIR

N July 13, 1728, the heroic Danish explorer in the
O Russian service, Vitus Bering, engaged on an ex-
pedition of discovery in North Pacific waters, set

sail in the Gabriel, a vessel he had built at a stockaded
post in lower Kamchatka. Bering voyaged northward to
a point about latitude 67° 18’. During the time he was in
what is now known as Bering Strait a heavy fog hung over
the sea and he failed to catch sight of the North American



40 THE PERIOD OF EXPLORATION

continent, but he was convinced that the broad sea upon
which he was sailing separated Asia from an unknown region
whose existence he conjectured from the driftwood he saw.
Many tall trees differing from those on Asiatic shores were
seen, and birds of passage in numerous flocks passed his
vessel. In the summer of 1729 Bering attempted further
exploration, but on account of continuous fog he accomplished
but little. On his return to Russia plans were made on a
gigantic scale for exploration and scientific investigation and
settlement. So cumbersome was the outfit, and so numerous
the body of men on this expedition, that although it left St
Petersburg in 1733, it was not until June 4, 1741, that Bering
was ready to venture out in search of the continent believed
to lie to the east. With Bering in the St Pefer was Steller,
a distinguished German naturalist, while the St Paul was
commanded by Lieutenant Alexis Chirikoff, a man in every
way worthy to be remembered as a daring and skilful
explorer. Bering reached the islands off the coast of Alaska
and saw and named Mount St Elias. He charted this region
and, turning southward, discovered the Aleutian Islands, but
as provisions and water were running low and his crew
scurvy-smitten, it was resolved to return to Kamchatka.
On November 4, in a time of storm, the island afterwards
named Bering was sighted. The commander of the expedi-
tion was at this time prostrated in his cabin, battling for
very life against disease. The .St Peter fortunately drifted in
safety through the reef fronting the island. A landing was
made, and on this lonely spot, remote from the inhabited
world, the winter was to be spent. The island teemed with
marine mammals—the sea-lion, the sea-cow, the fur-seal, the
sea-otter—and the Arctic fox. Here, shortly after landing,
the noble Dane passed away, and his followers eked out
a miserable existence until spring. The St Peter suffered
wreck in the harbour, and from her material the sailors con-
structed a rude vessel in which they escaped to the mainland.

Chirikoff did quite as important work as Bering. He
sighted the Alexandria archipelago about latitude 55° 21’
and may have passed inside Chatham Strait. He after-
wards sailed north-west and visited the broad harbour where
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Sitka now stands. Here a boat landed, and as it was long
ashore without showing any signs of returning, another boat
was dispatched to learn the cause. Both boats were seized
by the natives and the crews were massacred. With his
ship’s boats lost and his crew greatly diminished, Chirikoff
was unable to continue his examination of the coast, and
was forced to return to Kamchatka. This expedition under
Bering and Chirikoff has great historical importance. It
gave Russia a title to the Alaskan shore as far south as
latitude 55°—a title it held until the sale of Alaska to the
United States in 1867.

The voyage of Cook marked the beginning of the sea-
otter trade at Nootka ; the story of the expedition of Bering
and Chirikoff had a similar effect on Russian traders; ‘ pro-
myshleniki,’ as they were called, at once began to exploit
the fur wealth of the islands the explorers had found.

Reports of the Russian operations among the islands of
the North Pacific and on the shores of Alaska gradually
reached the world, and New Spain heard that it was the inten-
tion of the Russian-American Fur Company to establish a post
in the vicinity of Nootka. To examine the Russian establish-
ments and to learn what truth there might be in this rumour,
Estevan Martinez, who had accompanied Juan Perez as
pilot in 1774, was, in 1788, sent from Mexico to the North
Pacific. On his return he reported that the Russians claimed
the entire coast as far south as California by right of the
discoveries of Bering and Chirikoff, and that an officer of the
Russian - American Fur Company had stated that in the
following year the company would establish a post at Nootka
Sound. The viceroy of New Spain thereupon decided to send
a strong expedition to Nootka to take formal possession of
the place and establish a post there. This step was the
beginning of the Nootka Affair.

British traders were already on the ground and, as we
have seen, had purchased from the natives the right to erect
buildings at Friendly Cove. Of this fact the Spaniards were
evidently ignorant, for when Martinez set out on his second
expedition in 1789 his only thought seems to have been to
forestall the threatened invasion of Nootka by the Russians.
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With his armed ships the Princessa and the San Carlos, he
sailed from San Blas for Nootka on February 17, 1789. The
Spanish commander claimed that in 1774 Juan Perez had
entered the harbour and named it San Lorenzo. Martinez had
been pilot on this voyage, and it is a most remarkable circum-
stance that, for the navigation of the waters at Nootka, he
now relied not upon his own knowledge or on Spanish charts,
but on Cook’s chart, a copy of which he had obtained from
Cook’s recently published Voyages. He was instructed to
assert the superior right against Russia that Spain had to the
whole coast, and if he met foreign traders he was to endeavour,
even if he had to use force, ‘to prevent as far as possible
their intercourse and commerce with the natives.’

When Friendly Cove was reached on May 5, 1789, the
Spaniards found two vessels there at anchor—the Iphigenia
flying the Portuguese flag, and the United States ship
Columbia, then commanded by Captain Kendrick. This
British-owned ship under Portuguese colours and having a
Portuguese captain named Viana aroused the suspicion of
Martinez. He was at first friendly with Douglas, the real
captain, but later arrested both Douglas and Viana and
seized the Iphigenia. This act took place eight days after
the Spaniards arrived at Nootka and was witnessed by
Kendrick and by Gray, who had in the meantime arrived in
the Lady Washington. No attempt was made to interfere with
the American ships. The crew of the Iphigenia, according
to Meares, were ill-treated and the vessel plundered ‘ of all
merchandise which had been provided for trading, as also
of her stores, provisions, nautical instruments, charts—even
to the extent of the master’s watch and articles of clothing.’
The Iphigenia was later returned to the British, and Douglas
left Nootka declaring his intention of sailing to China, but
instead of making for Macao, he shaped his vessel's course
to the north and engaged with success in trading. Evidently
he had not been plundered of all his trading goods and
nautical instruments, or Martinez must have returned much
of the property. The little North-West America had been
on a trading cruise while these acts were taking place, but
on June 8 she returned to Nootka. Martinez promptly
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seized the vessel and confiscated her goods. He evidently
intended to keep the craft, and rechristened her the Gerirudis,
after his wife.

On June 24, 1789, Nootka Sound was formally taken pos-
session of by Martinez, and the region was claimed by right
of discovery and by the Bull of Pope Alexander V1.

Meanwhile the Princess Royal, Captain Hudson, had
arrived on the scene and was allowed to depart unmolested.
On July 2, the day on which Hudson left port, Captain Colnett
arrived in the Argonaui. At first the intercourse between
Colnett and Martinez was friendly, but later angry disputes
arose between the choleric British captain and the domineer-
ing Spaniard, and these disputes resulted in the seizure of
the Argonaut. On July 13 the Princess Royal returned to
Nootka Sound and was straightway seized by Martinez.
Four vessels had now been captured, two of which were un-
doubtedly British, and the others, as has been related, British
save in flag only. The Argonaut and the Princess Royal and
their crews were taken to San Blas. This high-handed
action of a Spanish officer on the remote north-west coast
of America was to set the dogs of war barking in Europe,
and was, without bloodshed however, to cause the abandon-
ment by Spain of her long-asserted right to supreme control
on the western shores of the Pacific Ocean.

Early in 1790 vague rumours reached England that a
Spanish ship-of-war had seized a British trading vessel in
Nootka. On February 10 the Spanish ambassador at London
addressed a note on the matter to the British secretary for
Foreign Affairs. He referred to the seizure of the Argonaut,
which had, according to his note, come ‘to take possession
of Nootka in the name of the British king.” This vessel and
its crew had been seized, but the prisoners, it was stated,
had been afterwards released. A request was made that
His Britannic Majesty ‘may punish such undertakings in a
manner to restrain his subjects from continuing them on
these coasts which have been occupied and frequented by
the Spaniards for so many years.” The note added that
‘ His Majesty flatters himself that the Court of St James will
not fail to give the strictest order to prevent such attempts
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in future.” The Spanish ambassador was either poorly in-
formed regarding the situation or concealed the fact that
four vessels had been seized and that only the Iphigenia
with her crew had been freed. At the time he wrote, the
men of the Argonaut and the Princess Royal were prisoners
in New Spain.

The reply to this note must have startled Spain. The
action of Martinez made * it necessary henceforth to suspend
all discussion of the pretensions set forth in that letter until
a ust and adequate satisfaction shall have been made for
the proceeding so injurious to Great Britain. In the first
place it is essential that the vessels in question shall be
restored. To determine the details of the ultimate satisfac-
tion which may be found necessary, more ample information
must be awaited concerning the circumstances of the affair.’
After this exchange of compliments both nations made pre-
parations for war. On June 13 Florida Blanca, the prime
minister of Spain, had a memorial of the court of Spain
delivered to Alleyne Fitzherbert, the British ambassador
at Madrid. In this memorial exclusive jurisdiction was
claimed over the entire coast of North-West America as far
north as the Russian trading posts. The claim was based
on the discovery of Nootka by Perez and on the papal Bull
already referred to. So far as the latter was concerned, the
English government had since the days of the great Elizabeth
treated it with a measure of contempt. That astute sove-
reign ‘ knew no right they [the Spaniards] had to any places
other than those they were actually in possession of ; that
their having touched only here and there upon the coast
and given names to a few rivers and capes, were such insig-
nificant things as could in no way entitle them to property
further than in the parts where they actually settled and
continued to inhabit.’

In the meantime Meares had arrived in England with a
full report of the affair. On receiving his report the cabinet
submitted a recommendation to the king in which it was
advised ‘ that it would be proper in order to support that
demand [the restoration of Nootka and satisfaction to the
owners of the vessels seized] and to be prepared for such
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events as may arise, that your Majesty should give orders
for fitting out a squadron of the line.’

Both nations, therefore, continued their hurried and ex-
tensive preparations for war and sought alliances with other
powers. Holland and Prussia expressed their readiness to
support England, while France took its place with Spain ; but
as the French Revolution was in full swing, the Spanish court
had no confidence in the French National Assembly. Both
powers approached the United States, but the government of
that nation decided to maintain a neutral position unless the
Spanish possessions on the Mississippi should be attacked.
In such an event it might have to join forces with Spain.
Jefferson had no desire to see a British colony planted
at the mouth of the Mississippi. Even before Fitzherbert
reached Madrid as ambassador, Florida Blanca had showed
signs of weakening and had informed the then British ambas-
sador, Anthony Merry, that an arrangement on a friendly
basis might be arrived at if it could be shown that Great
Britain was not making the Nootka situation a pretext for
war. Then followed a declaration from Spain that the
government was ‘ willing to give satisfaction to His Britannic
Majesty for the injury of which he has complained.” Spain
further engaged to make full restoration ‘of all the British
vessels which were captured at Nootka,” and to ‘ indemnify
the parties-interested in those vessels for the losses which
they have sustained, as soon as the amount thereof shall
have been ascertained. It being understood that this declara-
tion is not to prejudice the ultimate discussion of any right
which His Catholic Majesty claims to form an exclusive
establishment at Nootka.

This note from Spain was met by a counter-declaration
from England, in which it was set forth that ‘ His Majesty
will consider this declaration,” but that while Fitzherbert
accepted it, ‘it is to be understood that the acceptance was
not to preclude or prejudice, in any respect, the rights which
His Majesty may claim to any establishment which his
subjects may have formed or may desire to form in the
future, at the said Bay of Nootka.’

Florida Blanca was in an unenviable position. The
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Spanish treasury was practically empty ; the army and navy
were on a wretched footing; he had only one European
power at his back, and that one might fail Spain in a crisis.
At the same time he knew that to yield to the demands of
England would be a most unpopular act. However, he
bravely faced the situation and, to save his country from
grave disaster, decided to submit to the British demands.
An arrangement was entered into between the two powers,
and on October 28, 1790, the Nootka Convention, which for
ever put an end to the Spanish claim of supremacy in the
Pacific, was signed.

By the articles of this convention it was agreed : that
the buildings and tracts of land of which Meares and his
associates had been dispossessed should be restored, and that
reparation should be made and just compensation given for
the losses sustained ; that the respective subjects of Spain
and Great Britain should not be disturbed or molested either
in navigating or carrying on their fisheries in the Pacific
Ocean or in the South Seas, or in landing on the coast of
those seas in places not already occupied, for the purpose of
carrying on their commerce with the natives of the country
or of making establishments there ; that the navigation and
fishing of the British waters were not to be ‘ made a pretext
for illicit trade with Spanish settlements,” and, with this in
view, British subjects were not to navigate or carry on their
fisheries in the said seas within a space of ten sea leagues
from any port on the coast already occupied by Spain ; that
in the places to be restored and in all other ports on the north-
west coast of North America or on the islands adjacent,
situated to the north of the ports already occupied by Spain,
wherever the subjects of either power had made settlements
since April 1789 or should make them in future, the subjects
of the other were to have free access and to be permitted to
carry on their commerce without disturbance or molesta-
tion ; that on the eastern and western coasts of South
America and the islands adjacent, neither power was to form
permanent settlements to the south of the ports already
occupied by Spain ; and that in case of complaint or infrac-
tion of the articles of convention an exact report-was to be
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made by the officers concerned to their respective courts,
so that an amicable settlement might be reached. There
was a secret article in which it was agreed regarding the
eastern and western coasts of South America that the stipu-
lation regarding those coasts should remain in force only so
long as no establishment was formed there by the subjects
of any other power.

The terms of the convention were unpopular in Spain
and ultimately caused the overthrow of Florida Blanca.
They were at first hailed with the greatest enthusiasm in
Great Britain, but when it was realized that the government
had agreed to forgo the right to make permanent settlements
in the part of North America discovered and charted by Cook
in 1778, there was some sharp criticism of the terms.

Before the news of the insult to the British flag at Nootka
Sound reached Europe an expedition had been organized in
England for completing the work so ably commenced by
Cook on the north-west coast of North America, but on
account of the threatened outbreak of hostilities the project
was laid aside for the time being. After the Nootka Sound
Convention had been concluded a new expedition was fitted
out with a twofold purpose—(1) to receive formally from
Spain the surrender of the properties claimed by Meares
and his associates, and (2) to make a careful survey of the
coast from the Spanish settlements of Lower California to
Alaska. George Vancouver, who had been a midshipman
under Cook, was given command of the expedition in the
Discovery, a sloop of three hundred and forty tons; with him
went Lieutenant Robert Broughton in the Chatham, a vessel
of one hundred and thirty-five tons. Vancouver was in-
structed particularly to acquire accurate information regard-
ing any water communication ‘ between the north-west coast
and the countries upon the opposite side of the continent,
which are inhabited or occupied by His Majesty’s subjects,’
and to ascertain as precisely as possible ‘ the number, extent
and situation of any settlements which have been made
within the limits above mentioned [the 30th and 6oth parallels
of north latitude] by any European nation, and the time when
such settlement was first made.” It was evident that the
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supposed Strait of Anian was still worrying the Admiralty,
and Vancouver was to set at rest the question whether or
not there was a navigable passage between the Pacific and
the Atlantic. In the light of our present knowledge it seems
strange that this question should have been seriously re-
garded. In 1789 Alexander Mackenzie had reached the
Arctic Ocean by way of the river that has since borne his
name. He had traversed the entire region from the Great
Lakes to the Arctic, and had proved beyond the shadow of a
doubt that no such passage through the continent existed.
News of his explorations and discoveries had reached England
before Vancouver left its shores.

The expedition sailed from Falmouth on April 1, 1791,
and a year was spent in visiting the new lands discovered by
Cook and others in the southern seas. It was not until
March 1792 that the shores of New Albion were sighted in
latitude 39° 27’. Vancouver skirted the coast northward,
but failed to discover the Columbia River. On April 26
the Discovery and the Chatham sailed into the Strait of Juan
de Fuca and, keeping to the southern shore, entered and ex-
plored Puget Sound ; then, turning northward, the explorers
continued their careful survey, naming capes, islands and
bays. They visited Points Roberts and Grey but failed to
locate the Fraser River, although the swift current rushing
into the Strait of Georgia and the detritus from the interior,
both of which they noted, should have convinced them that
a river of some magnitude lay between those points. Near
Point Grey they met two Spanish vessels, the Sutil and the
Mexicana, commanded respectively by Don Dionisio Galiano
and Don Cayetano Valdez, who were completing surveys
made in 1790 by Quimper, de Haro and Elisa. Vancouver
learned from them that Bodega y Quadra was awaiting him
at Nootka, prepared to carry out the terms of the Nootka
Convention. The Spanish ships accompanied the Discovery
as far as Johnstone Strait. At this point Vancouver sent
Johnstone and Swaine with a ship’s boat through the strait
to discover if there was a navigable passage around the head
of Vancouver Island. The trip proved the existence of such
a passage, and Vancouver, bidding farewell to the friendly
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Spanish captains, sailed through Johnstone Strait and on
August 5 reached ‘an expansive ocean.” This was undoubtedly
the first time that a European vessel passed through the
entire stretch of waters leading from the Strait of Juan de
Fuca to Queen Charlotte Sound. A few days later the
Spanish ships followed the British vessels into the waters
at the north of Vancouver Island. It is a noteworthy fact
that on this expedition Vancouver was careful to honour
the sturdy seamen who accompanied him by naming many
of the capes, bays, islands and straits after them : Whid-
bey Island, Mount Baker, Cape Mudge, Johnstone Strait,
Broughton Strait and many other geographical names bear
imperishable record of the work done by the boats’ crews
under Vancouver’s direction. Vancouver was generosity
itself, and in entering places on his chart he did not forget
his Spanish friends, as Valdez Island and Galiano Island attest;
but the most striking evidence of his nobleness of spirit is in
the name he gave the island he was the first to circumnavigate
~—*‘Quadra and Vancouver.” This he did because, as he
says, after his first meeting with Quadra at Nootka :

Sigr Quadra requested that in the course of my further
exploring this country I would name some point or island
after us both, in commemoration of our meeting and the
friendly intercourse that on that occasion had taken
place, which I promised to do ; and, conceiving no place
more eligible than the place of our meeting, I have there-
fore named this land (which by our sailing at the back of
we had discovered to be an extensive island), the Island
of Quadra and Vancouver.

The our and we in the parenthetical passage are signi-
ficant. As the Sutil and the Mexicana circumnavigated
the island almost simultaneously with the Chatham and the
Discovery, Vancouver felt it his duty to share the glory of
this discovery with the Spaniards.

After passing out of Queen Charlotte Sound, Vancouver
charted the coast as far north as Fitzhugh Sound and then
decided to make for Nootka and receive the surrender of the
place in accordance with the agreement entered into between
Great Britain and Spain. Friendly Cove was reached on

VOL. XXI D
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August 28 and the British vessels were cordially welcomed
by Quadra. It was evident from what Vancouver observed
on his arrival at Nootka Sound that a real effort had been
made at settlement since the British were ousted in 1789.
Officers’ quarters, a storehouse and barrack, a hospital and
buildings for labourers had been erected on an island at the
mouth of the sound. Gardens had been planted, and cattle,
sheep, pigs and poultry had been imported.

Negotiations for the taking over of Nootka were at once
begun, but the Spanish commander and the British captain
could not agree on the interpretation of the first article of
the Nootka Convention. Quadra maintained that only the
land actually occupied by Meares was meant, ‘ but little
more,” as Vancouver informed Quadra, ‘than one hundred
yards in extent anyway.” Vancouver claimed that the terri-
tory ‘ to be returned to them [the British] by the first article
of the convention and from Florida Blanca’s letter, is the
place in toto and Port Cox.” Negotiations were carried on in
the most friendly spirit, but neither commissioner would
give way, and towards the end of September Quadra sailed
from Nootka, leaving matters as they stood, both negotiators
having decided to await further instructions from their respec-
tive governments. Early in October Vancouver too sailed
southward. A few days later the mouth of the Columbia
was reached and Lieutenant Broughton with two ship’s boats
ascended the river as far as the point where in 1825 Fort
Vancouver was erected by the Hudson’s Bay Company.
Broughton believed he was the first navigator to enter the
river and made light of Gray’s reported discovery. He took
possession in the name of His Britannic Majesty of the
region drained by this mighty river. After this delay the
British expedition sailed for Monterey, where Quadra was
awaiting Vancouver. Broughton then accompanied Quadra
to San Blas, intending to bear dispatches overland to the
Atlantic and thence to England, while Vancouver sailed for
the Sandwich Islands.

On May 20, 1793, the Discovery was back at Friendly
Cove, where Senor Fidalgo was in charge. This officer
was shortly afterwards superseded by Saavedra, who arrived
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in the San Carlos. Vancouver remained four days in port
and then sailed northward to continue the charting of the
coast. On this trip he reached a point named by him Cape
Decision, at the mouth of Christian Sound, and prepared
an admirable chart of the coast with its bays, islands and
canals. He was back at Nootka on October 5, but there
was no word for him from his government, and so he left the
harbour, visiting San Francisco and Monterey on his way
south and examining the coast of Lower California. Once
more he spent the winter in the Sandwich Islands.

On Vancouver's return to the American shore in the
following spring he reached Cook’s Inlet, in the region of
Alaska, where he met Russians who made claim for their
government to the islands in that region. Vancouver's
farthest north on this voyage was Port Conclusion, a little
to the north of Cape Ommaney. He was thoroughly con-
vinced that there was no extensive waterway leading to the
Atlantic, and yet, despite his careful, painstaking labour, he
failed to locate such rivers as the Fraser, Skeena and Nass.

On September 2 Vancouver was once more at Friendly
Cove. Don Jose Manuel Alava was now in command. The
British expedition remained in harbour until October 17,
receiving every courtesy from Alava, but as there were still
no instructions from London, and as Vancouver was led to
understand by Alava that according to his instructions the
terms that had been offered to Quadra in September 1792
would ultimately be accepted, and as he was informed that
another officer had been commissioned by Great Britain to
conclude the Nootka Affair, he decided to sail homeward.
The Chatham and the Discovery returned to the British Isles
by way of Cape Horn, and reached the River Shannon on
September 12, 1795, after having circumnavigated the world,
and having for three years conducted the most important
exploring expedition that ever charted the Pacific coast.

Meanwhile, in Vancouver’s absence, the Nootka Affair
had been finally laid at rest. By the Nootka Claims Con-
vention in 1792 Meares and his partners had been awarded
210,000 Spanish dollars damages. By the Convention for
the Mutual Abandonment of Nootka, signed on January 11,
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1794, Spain was to surrender the buildings and districts
of lands of which His Majesty’s subjects had been dispos-
sessed in April 1789. The British flag was to be ‘ unfurled
over the land so restored in sign of possession. . .. After
these formalities the officers were to ‘ withdraw respectively
their people from the said port of Nootka.” The subjects
of both nations were to ‘ have the liberty of frequenting said
port whenever they wished and to construct there temporary
buildings to accommodate them during their residence on
such occasions.” But no permanent establishment was to
be made. Nor could either ‘claim any right there to the
exclusion of the other.” Both nations further agreed ‘to
maintain for their subjects free access to the port of Nootka
against any other nation who may attempt to establish there
any sovereignty or dominion.’

On March 23, 1795, the final scene in the Nootka Affair
was enacted. On this day, in the presence of Lieutenant
Thomas Pierce of the Royal Marines and Brigadier-General
Alava, representing respectively Great Britain and Spain,
the Spanish flag gave place to the flag of Great Britain. The
fort was then deserted, and Nootka, and indeed the entire
north-west coast from Lower California to Alaska, was for
thirty years to be a no-man’s-land.

v

THE NORTH-WEST COMPANY IN NEW CALEDONIA

HE history of the north-west coast during the years
that elapsed between the settlement of the Nootka

Affair and the coming of the Astorians does not make
pleasant reading. The withdrawal of Spain and Great
Britain from authority over these waters left the coast open
to the unrestricted trade of all nations. British ships from
Asiatic ports and from the homeland, United States vessels
from New England, and Russian traders entered actively on
the search for sea-otter pelts. The Russians in the north
and the ‘ Bostons,” as the Americans were called, soon had
an almost complete monopoly of the trade. So successful
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were the traders that in one year as many as eighteen thousand
sea-otter skins were collected on the islands and the main-
land of the Pacific coast. The only thought of these traders
was the amassing of wealth, and by fair means and foul they
gathered their cargoes. The trade had a demoralizing effect
upon the Indians. They soon grew passionately fond of
the white man’s * firewater,’ with the dual result of debauch-
ing and degrading them and depleting the coast waters of
the sea-otter. The natives, to obtain intoxicating liquor,
searched indefatigably for furs to exchange for it. By the
time the Astorians and the North-West Company reached
the Pacific the sea-otter was so scarce that the trade had
grown unprofitable.

There were frequent conflicts between the natives and
the traders. The ‘Bostons’ and the Russians did not
hesitate to plunder the owners of skins when they would not
part with them in trade. Sharp fights occurred and natives
were ruthlessly shot down on numerous occasions. They
retaliated in kind and never lost an opportunity to take ven-
geance on the whites. It must be said in defence of the
traders that from the beginning of communication with
the north-west coast the Indians had never failed to take
advantage of visitors to their shores whenever they thought
themselves strong enough to attack with success a boat’s
crew or even a ship. Their friendliness was generally feigned,
inspired by superior force. In 1802 the Indians massacred
the Russians at the fur-trading post of Sitka, and in the follow-
ing year destroyed the Russian establishment on Norfolk
Sound. In 1803, too, at Nootka, the ship Bostorn was seized
by strategy by Indians under the leadership of the famous
Chief Maquinna, and all on board, excepting John R. Jewitt,
the armourer of the vessel, and John Thompson, the sail-
maker, were brutally murdered. The vessel was beached
and burned, her goods distributed among the tribes repre-
sented in the attack, and Jewitt and Thompson were held
as slaves in Maquinna’s service until 1805. In that year
the Lydia under Captain Hill arrived at Nootka. Maquinna
was anxious to open up the old relations with the traders,
and himself bore a letter from Jewitt to the captain. In
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this letter Jewitt had inserted a request that Maquinna
be held prisoner until he and Thompson were released.
Jewitt’s scheme was successful in winning freedom for him
and his fellow-prisoner. In 1805 the Afahualpa, from Rhode
Island, was attacked by a number of Indians who had
come on board ostensibly to trade. They were repulsed,
but not before the captain, mate and six men were killed.
The sea-otter trade enriched many people; but demoralized
the Indians of the north-west coast and left them worse
than when the first white man visited them. Up to this
time no attempt was made to civilize the savages; they
were considered only as gatherers of valuable furs. The
treatment they had received made the lot of the British
traders who later came overland difficult and dangerous.

In 1793 Alexander Mackenzie, in the service of the
North-West Company of Montreal, who had in 1789 reached
the Arctic Ocean by way of Mackenzie River, decided to
make a dash for the Pacific. His journey! was one of the
most trying in the history of exploration, but his dauntless
courage and determination carried him through. He arrived
at Burke’s Channel about five weeks after Vancouver’s
boats had been in those waters surveying the coast. This
feat of Mackenzie gave Great Britain the same right to lay
claim to what is now the central part of British Columbia
as the Lewis and Clark expedition gave the United States
to lay claim to Oregon. But while Mackenzie reported the
region he had passed through as rich in fur-bearing animals,
the partners of the North-West Company showed little
enthusiasm over his achievements. The newly explored
country was too remote and too difficult of access to admit
of a profitable trade in furs, and little advantage was taken of
Mackenzie’s journey—not, at any rate, until twelve years
later, when his experiences aided Simon Fraser in penetrat-
ing the region beyond the Rockies.

In 1803 President Jefferson, having extended the boun-
daries of his country through the Louisiana Purchase, looked
farther afield, and meditated planting the flag of the United

1 For a full account of Mackenzie’s journeys see * Western Exploration, 1760-
1840,” in section II.
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States on the Pacific Ocean. With this end in view, he
planned an overland expedition. He let the world under-
stand that it was to be purely for scientific purposes, but in
a secret message to Congress he put the question as to whether
or not it would be wise to annex the territory west of the
Rocky Mountains discovered by Gray in the Columbia.
His arguments won the consent of Congress, and in 1804
a well-equipped expedition under Captain Meriwether
Lewis and Captain William Clark set out from St Louis
for the Pacific, and arrived at the mouth of the Columbia
in 1805.

When news of the Lewis and Clark expedition reached
the partners of the North-West Company, they became
alarmed. It was evident from the information gathered
by Mackenzie and from the experiences of the traders
who had visited the coast that a wealth of pelts awaited
energetic traders in the vast territory lying between the
Columbia and Peace Rivers. In 1805, while the United
States expedition was slowly making its way to the Pacific,
the North-West Company resolved to invade the extreme
west of the continent and extend its line of posts from
the Great Lakes to the mouth of the Columbia, and Simon
Fraser, a youthful bourgeois of the company, was chosen for
the work of penetrating the Rockies ; thusin the year 1805 the
history of New Caledonia, as the region lying between the
49th and 58th parallels came to be called, was begun.

Before entering the mountains Fraser established his base
at Rocky Mountain Portage on the Peace River. Here he
erected a rude post called Rocky Mountain House. Thence
he proceeded to M¢Leod Lake and in the autumn of 1805
established Fort M¢Leod, the first fur-trading post built
in British Columbia. Fraser spent the winter at Rocky
Mountain House in company with his lieutenant, John
Stuart. In the following spring he returned to Fort M¢Leod
and then proceeded to Stuart Lake, where he founded Fort
Nakasleh, afterwards known as Fort St James. From Fort
St James the traders went to Fraser Lake, where Fort Fraser
—the Fort Natleh of Fraser's letters—was built. A rude
trail was made between Fort M¢Leod and Fort St James,
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the first roadway, if such it could be called, regularly tra-
versed in British Columbia.

It is evident from Fraser’s letters that he early had
in mind the opening up of communication between New
Caledonia and the Pacific. In 1807, while he was at Fort
Fraser, he wrote : ‘I have another plan in view, that is if it
could be done with ease, to get all the goods for going down
the Columbia in the spring.” Late in the year 1807 Jules
Maurice Quesnel and Hugh Faries arrived in New Caledonia
with the necessary supplies for such a trip, and explicit
instructions from the company to Fraser to lose no time
in exploring the ‘Great River’ to its mouth. When these
instructions were written the partners of the North-West
Company do not seem to have been aware that Lewis and
Clark had already reached the mouth of the Columbia and
were safely back in the east with news of their achievement,
for it was their expressed desire to have Fraser reach the
coast before the Americans. As a preliminary step toward
the exploration of the Columbia, Fraser established Fort
George at the point where the Nechaco River enters the
Fraser. In the spring of 1808 he assembled at this fort the
men who were to accompany him on his hazardous under-
taking into the unknown. The party included twenty-four
men. With Fraser went Quesnel and Stuart. From the be-
ginning Fraser mistook the river he was on for the Columbia ;
but this in no way affects the greatness of his exploit.
The journey ! was attended with even more thrilling experi-
ences than Mackenzie had met with in 1793 ; but the efforts
of the explorers were crowned with success. The party
pursued their way with dauntless courage and indefatigable
energy until in the beginning of July they stood on the shores
of the Strait of Georgia. But on taking his bearings Fraser
found that he was far north of the river discovered by Gray
and navigated by Broughton. On the second day of July
he sorrowfully records in his journal : ‘ The latitude is 49°
north, while that of the entrance to the Columbia is 46° 20’.
This river, therefore,.is not the Columbia.’

1 For a full account of Fraser’s journey see ¢ Western Exploration, 1760-1840,
in section 11.
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Fraser seems to have lost heart through his failure to find
the Columbia. At any rate he is on record as being sick of
the country. Shortly after his journey to the Pacific he
left New Caledonia, going first to a district in Athabaska
and then to the Red River Settlement, and about the time
of the amalgamation of the North-West Company with the
Hudson’s Bay Company he retired from the fur trade. But
by his work and the work of his fellow-explorers he had won
a noble domain for the British crown.

By means of the four forts established by Fraser in New
Caledonia, his company secured a firm grip on the wide country
tributary to them, and when the boundary dispute arose
there was no doubt, save in the minds of the unthinking mob
in the United States, as to what nation this region rightly
belonged. When Fraser left New Caledonia in 1809 John
Stuart took charge of the district and until 1824 made his
headquarters at Fort McLeod. He was ably assisted in his
arduous work by such men as James M¢Dougall and Daniel
Williams Harmon. Harmon is of peculiar interest to the
student of the history of British Columbia, as he kept a diary
in which he set down the daily life of the men at the fort
and an account of the Indians. He proved, too, that New
Caledonia had agricultural possibilities, and was the first
farmer west of the Rockies.!

Life in New Caledonia was hard. On account of the
quantity of goods that had to be brought to the new country
for trading purposes, only the absolute necessities of life
could be carried by the traders over the route of the Peace
River, the Parsnip River and the Pack River. For their
ordinary food the dwellers at the posts had to depend on the
country, and they subsisted largely on salmon, fresh when
they could get it, but for the most part dried and unpalatable.
When the Yellowhead Pass (Téte Jaune Cache) was later
discovered, it did not in the slightest degree ameliorate con-
ditions in this respect in New Caledonia.

Stuart was instructed, as Fraser had been, to find an out-
let from his district to the ocean. By 1813 the course of the
Columbia was well known, and when in May of that year

1 See pp. 523-4.
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he set out to find a passage to that river, he was in no danger
of erring as Fraser had done in 1808. His effort was success-
ful and he arrived at Astoria about the time the post was
taken over by the agents of the North-West Company. But
little is known of this trip made by Stuart. However, he
must have discovered a satisfactory route, for in October of
the following year Joseph Larocque reached Stuart Lake
with two canoes heavily laden with supplies. The route
Larocque followed from the Columbia was long to be used
for supplying the posts in the interior.

Meanwhile an explorer as courageous and enduring as
Fraser or Stuart, and better fitted by education for his tasks,
was at work to the south of New Caledonia in the region of
the head-waters of the Columbia. David Thompson, fur
trader, surveyor, astronomer and map-maker, was a man
whose achievements should be known to every Canadian.
He began his labours beyond the Rockies in the spring of
1807, and on June 22, at a point between Donald and
Moberly, reached a river which he knew must lead to the
ocean. When he first saw its waters he was not aware that
he was on a branch of the Columbia, but he felt the moment
an important one and prayed that it might be given him
to see where the waters of this river flow into the ocean.
His prayer was not to be answered for four years, and then,
when he arrived at the mouth of the Columbia, he found he
was a few weeks too late. Another flag than the British
flew there over the rude beginnings of a fort. While at
the head-waters of the Columbia Thompson built Kootenay
House, the first post erected in the region. He could not
pursue his discoveries farther in 1807 as he had to return to
Fort William to report progress. But in the following year
he was back at Kootenay House. In 1809 he established
posts at Flathead and at Pend d’Oreille Lakes, and left
Finan M¢Donald in charge of the district. He again visited
Fort William, and while there in 1810 he learned that John
Jacob Astor of New York had determined to enter the
western country. This prominent figure in the early fur

1 For a full account of Thompson’s explorations see * Western Exploration,
1760-1840,’ in section 11.
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trade organized the Pacific Fur Company, and to forward
his plans had induced a number of men engaged in the
service of the North-West Company to join his force.
Among these were Duncan M¢Dougall, Alexander Mackay,
who had been Mackenzie’s lieutenant in his notable journey
in 1793, David and Robert Stuart and Donald Mackenzie.
Astor planned to have his men reach the Pacific coast by two
routes. One party was to go round Cape Horn in the ship
Tonguin, commanded by Jonathan Thorn, while another
under the leadership of Wilson Price Hunt was to follow the
route from the Mississippi taken by Lewis and Clark.

The partners of the North-West Company determined
to forestall Astor if possible, and commissioned Thompson
to hasten to the Columbia and establish a post on the Pacific.
Unforeseen difficulties were encountered ; his progress was
delayed, and not until July 15, 1811, did he reach the mouth
of the river, only to find the Pacific Fur Company already
there, with a fort in process of construction and a thirty-ton
vessel intended for coast trading on the stocks. Thompson
made the best of the situation and the North-West Company
prepared for a trade war with the Astorians in the Columbia
district.

The Tonguin had arrived in March and Astoria was
founded on the twenty-second of the month. While the fort
was being built the Tonquin was sent on a trading expedi-
tion along the shores of Vancouver Island. She reached
Clayoquot Sound and was freely visited by the Indians of
that place. The natives pretended friendship, but plotted
to massacre the ‘ Bostons’ and seize the ship and cargo.
The plot succeeded, and all excepting five of the crew of
twenty-three men, including the officers, were slain. These
five, one of them, the ship’s clerk Lewis, mortally wounded,
escaped to the cabin, and with loaded arms kept the Indians
at bay, and eventually forced them to leave the ship. On
the following morning four of the men left the Tonguin, only
to be slain by the savages. The wounded man remained ;
when the Indians returned to plunder the vessel he had a
train of gunpowder connected with the magazine, and as the
exulting savages crowded the deck in search of plunder he
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set a match to the train, and the explosion that followed
hurled the vessel and its occupants to destruction. Fully
one hundred warriors were killed, and as many more in the
canoes flocking round the ship were wounded. Early in
August wandering Indians brought vague rumours of the
fate of the Tomquin to the Astorians. The Indian inter-
preter, Lamazee, escaped death, and, after several months of
captivity among the natives of Clayoquot Sound, gained his
freedom and brought to the settlement an account of the
tragedy. The loss of the Tonquin was a severe blow to the
Pacific Fur Company, and was only the beginning of a series
of calamities which ultimately caused it to abandon the
Pacific coast.

The overland party of Astorians under Hunt suffered
heartbreaking experiences. It advanced through the moun-
tains, its members in constant dread of the savage warlike
tribes that beset their path. Provisions ran low and they
were forced to sustain life on horse and dog flesh. When
the travellers, exhausted and disheartened, reached Astoria,
the prospect was not enticing, and few of them remained
in the country. Some of them returned to St Louis under
the leadership of Robert Stuart, who bore dispatches to
the partners of the Pacific Fur Company. Astor and his
partners held on for a brief period. Intense rivalry existed
between the North-West Company and the Pacific Fur
Company, and energetic operations were conducted along
the Columbia. Opposing forts were built in close prox-
imity to each other, and at Fort Okanagan, Fort Thompson
or Kamloops, and Fort Spokane brisk trade was carried
on with the natives. The more perfect organization of the
North-West Company soon gave it pre-eminence in the
trade, and those in charge of Astoria decided to sell out to
their rivals. On October 16, 1813, Astoria, with its furs
and supplies, was turned over to the North-West Company.
Duncan M¢Dougall, one of Astor’s partners, negotiated with
the agents of the rival company for the sale. Some American
historians have maintained that the deal was put through
by treachery. But as the business was being conducted at
a loss and the future looked unpromising, M¢Dougall no
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doubt thought he was doing a good stroke of business for
the company, in which he was personally interested, especially
as war had broken out between Great Britain and the United
States and a warship was already on its way to the Pacific
to seize Astoria. At any rate, when Hunt returned from a
visit to the Sandwich Islands, he approved of abandon-
ing the post, although he afterwards expressed his indigna-
tion at the terms M¢Dougall made with the North-West
Company. On October 16, 1813, the British sloop-of-war
Racoon arrived at Astoria and took possession of the Oregon
district in the name of the king of Great Britain. The
name Astoria was changed to Fort George, and the British
flag was unfurled over the post. By the Treaty of Ghent
all places captured during the war were to be restored, and
on October 16, 1818, a United States commissioner, J. B.
Prevost, arrived in the British warship Blossom, and Great
Britain formally restored to the United States  the settle-~
ment of Fort George on the Columbia River.” By the con-
vention between the United States and Great Britain signed
on October 2, 1818, the ‘ Oregon Country’ was to be free
and open for a period of ten years, and the citizens and sub-
jects of both countries were to have joint occupancy. By a
convention of 1827 the joint occupancy was made indefinite,
but might be terminated after October 20, 1828, by either
country giving the other twelve months’ notice. In April
1846, in accordance with the terms of the convention, ¢ Con-
gress passed a joint resolution giving the president authority,
at his discretion, to give such notice to the British govern-
ment, and on April 28 of this year President Polk gave such
notice.” The British government then proposed the present
boundary, and by the Treaty of Washington on June 15, 1846,
the British were deprived of all right south of latitude 49°.
While the North-Westers had been exploring new terri-
tory and energetically visiting the encampments of the
Indians in search of furs, the Hudson’s Bay Company had
been largely content with waiting for the Indians to come to
its forts ; but the activity of its rival alarmed the officials and
they awoke from their lethargy. The keenest competition
went on between the two companies. Sharp practices were
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common. Liquor was freely employed among the savages,
resulting in crime and injury to the trade. Goods were in
many instances sold at a loss, and it was not long before both
concerns found themselves engaged in a profitless business.
At length the rivalry culminated in armed opposition, and
with the Seven Oaks affair at the Red River Settlement, and
the killing of Governor Semple of the Hudson’s Bay Company,
a crisis was reached. A legal war began in the courts, and a
general investigation into the affairs of both companies was
threatened. In order, no doubt, to block this, the partners
of the North-West Company and the Hudson’s Bay Company
concluded that it would be wise to amalgamate their forces.
They accordingly pooled their interests and formed a trust
that was to control the trade of nearly half a continent.
The amalgamation took place in 1821. The North-West
Company passed out of existence, and the Hudson's Bay
Company extended its operations until there was no part of
the continent from Hudson Bay to the Pacific and from the
Great Lakes to the Arctic Ocean that was unfamiliar with
its brigades. But the influence of the men of the North-
West Company was to live on. The majority of the partners
were taken into the new company, and their experience,
energy and courage proved invaluable.

It must never be forgotten that it was due to the fore-
sight and energy of the partners of the North-West Company
that British Columbia is now a part of the British Empire.
Mackenzie, Fraser and Thompson were, as has already been
stated, the men who gave Great Britain an indisputable
title to the north-west coast north of latitude 49°.

VI

THE REGIME OF THE HUDSON’'S BAY COMPANY

HE imperial act of 1821 gave the Hudson’s Bay Company

a monopoly of the trade in the territory east and west

of the Rocky Mountains not included in the famous
charter granted in 1670 to Prince Rupert and his associates.
The act made provision for regulating the trade. The district
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west of the Rockies was known under various names. The
north-east was called New Caledonia and the south-west
the Oregon Country. To the company the whole of the
territory west of the Rockies, from the Arctic Ocean to
California, was known as the Western Department. Under
the act, civil and criminal matters came under the jurisdic-
tion of the courts of judicature of Upper and Lower Canada,
but this could only apply in the fullest sense to the territory
east of the Rockies. In the Oregon Country the joint
occupancy gave Canada no authority over American citizens
or traders, but gave both nations equal authority over the
aborigines. To maintain law and order in the Western
Department a benevolent autocrat was needed, one who
could win the fear and respect of the Indians. Such a man,
Dr John M¢Loughlin, appeared on the scene shortly before
the amalgamation of the trading companies.

The Western Department included a vast domain—
larger than Germany and Great Britain combined. It
stretched from latitude 42° on the south to latitude 54° 40’
on the north, and included all the lands between the Rocky
Mountains on the east and the Pacific on the west. Not
only was what is now British Columbia in this department,
but also the territory that now constitutes the States of
Oregon, Washington, Idaho, and parts of Montana and
Wyoming. Thus the Hudson’s Bay Company had added
to its territory over four hundred thousand square miles.
At this time the number of natives in this wide region could
not have been fewer than one hundred thousand.

Dr John Mc¢Loughlin was chosen to govern this vast
territory. M¢Loughlin was a Canadian, born on October 19,
1784, in the parish of Riviére du Loup. He was educated
in Canada and in Scotland, and in his early manhood joined
the North-West Company. At the time of the union of the
great trading corporations he was in charge of Fort William
and was strongly opposed to the amalgamation, but, once
it was a fact, he threw in his lot with the Hudson’s Bay
Company, and what was of great importance to the history
of British Columbia, he induced young James Douglas also
to take service under the new company. Douglas was a
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clerk in the North-West Company who was so disgusted with
the union that he, with two of his elder brothers, had de-
cided to retire from the fur trade.

M¢Loughlin was in every way a born ruler of the patri-
archal type. He was about six feet four inches in height,
and of dignified bearing. When he came to the Oregon
Country his flowing hair was already snow-white. This,
together with his stern attitude towards evil-doers, caused
the Indians in their fondness for picturesque names to desig-
nate him the ‘Great White Eagle.’ Later, through his
generosity towards the settlers who flowed into the Columbia
district in the early forties, he came to be known as the
*Good Doctor’ and the ‘Good Old Doctor.” He is now
affectionately remembered in the north-west states as the
* Father of Oregon.’

McLoughlin arrived in Oregon in 1824. During the
three years that had elapsed since the union of the companies,
operations had been at a standstill in the Western Depart-
ment. But preparations were being made for the founda-
tion of a strong trading community on the Pacific coast.
So important was the enterprise that George Simpson,
governor of the Hudson’s Bay Company, accompanied
Me¢Loughlin and his party to the Columbia. It was found
that Fort George was not well situated for the purposes of
a trading-post such as the company desired and so another
site was selected. The spot chosen was on the north side of
the Columbia, some seven miles above the mouth of the
Willamette River and about two miles from Point Vancouver,
so named by Broughton. In 1825 a fort was erected on this
spot ; but five years later another site was selected about a
mile westward of the first fort and nearer the river. Here
Mc¢Loughlin had his headquarters and from this point ruled
his vast territory with an iron hand, but with a kindly heart.

For twenty years his rule was that of a Czar over the
territory that stretched from Alaska to California and
from the Rocky Mountains to the Pacific Ocean. Un-
counted thousands of Indians—Cayuses, Walla Wallas,
Okanagans, Nez Percés, Flatheads, Spokanes, Klickitats,
Wascopans, Molallas, Callapooias, Tillamooks, Chinooks,
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Clatsops—obeyed his behests and feared his displeasure.
Over every waterway in that immense region he sent his
Canadian voyageurs ; through hundreds of miles of forest
he dispatched his trappers and traders ; in and out of the
fringing North-West islands, to Sitka itself, his schooners
plied ; through the San Joaquin and Tulare valleys, over
the Shoshone country to the shores of Salt Lake, and
in the Yellowstone, his brigades pitched their tents ; all
alike bringing home rich tribute to the company, and
restlessly seeking further and ever further regions to
subdue.?

The employees of the company and the Indians at once
feared and loved M¢Loughlin. During the whole period of
his rule there were no Indian wars, and the boats of the
company, which before his coming had passed in fear and
trembling through the Indian country, now threaded the
intricate maze of lake and river without fear of attack. And
yet he had at his back no soldiers, no armed guard ; his
dominating personality was sufficient to keep peace in his
domain.

Fort Vancouver soon became a hive of industry. There
were no idlers about the place. Military discipline pre-
vailed, and every moment in the lives of those employed by
the company was regulated. By 1836 a farm of nearly three
thousand acres was under cultivation in the vicinity of the
fort, producing wheat, barley, oats, potatoes, and vegetables,
while an orchard of ten acres planted with apples, pears and
quinces yielded abundantly. There were also two saw-mills
and two flour-mills, supplying the needs of the company
and enabling it to carry on an export trade with the Sandwich
Islands and the Russian settlements. Both as a fur-trading
centre and as an agricultural community Fort Vancouver
flourished under Mc¢Loughlin’s rule.

But all was not smooth sailing. The Americans had as
much right to trade in the Oregon Country as the British,
and several parties ventured both overland and around Cape
Horn into the region. The American traders had but little
success. They were at a disadvantage from the beginning.
The goods they brought for trading purposes were of an

! Coats and Gosnell, Sir James Douglas, pp. 111-12
VOL. XXI1 E
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inferior quality to the British goods, and moreover were
taxed, while the British imports entered the country free.
As a consequence, the Hudson’s Bay Company was able to
undersell its rivals. Again, the Americans were hated by
the Indians, who never lost an opportunity to attack and
plunder them. On several occasions M¢Loughlin saved
parties of rival traders from destruction. He was ready to
fight them in a trading duel, but his big humane heart would
not allow them to be molested by savages, and he treated
in a summary manner any Indians guilty of theft or murder.
He went even further, for when some of his rivals met ship-
wreck and misfortune he aided them with food and money
in their time of calamity. Later, when the settlers came
overland and arrived at the Columbia in an exhausted and
impoverished state, M¢Loughlin reached out a helping hand
and extended to them the same treatment he gave the
employees of the company, who, after their time of service
had expired, desired to remain in the country—giving them
provisions and seed on credit, and lending them cattle. He
likewise treated with every consideration missionaries of
all denominations—Presbyterians, Baptists, Methodists and
Roman Catholics who came into the country found him
their friend. To the early Methodist missionaries he was
particularly kind, and yet, in his declining years, some of
the very men of this body whom he had helped succeeded
in having him robbed of land that was rightfully his, and
vilified his character. Belated justice was done him years
after his death, and the property taken from him by process
of law was restored to his heirs.

When trade rivalry was keen, liquor, the most advan-
tageous article with which to secure furs, was freely sold to
the Indians. At Fort Vancouver the sale of liquor was pro-
hibited to both employees and natives. So determined was
McLoughlin to keep intoxicating liquor from the servants
of the company and the Indians that on one occasion when
an American vessel, the Thomas Perkins, arrived with a
cargo composed mainly of spirits, he bought the entire cargo
and stored the liquor in the fort, and it was still there when
his resignation went into effect in 1846.
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While a strong settlement was being built up at Fort
Vancouver, the trade of the company was extending in all
directions. When Governor Simpson was at the fort in
1824 it was decided to begin operations on the coast of the
mainland north of latitude 49° in the lower Fraser country.
James M¢Millan led an exploring party to the Fraser in that
year and paddled up the stream a short distance beyond the
spot where old Fort Langley was built three years later.
On Mc¢Millan’s return he gave a favourable report regard-
ing the soil and the possibility of obtaining furs. The
building of Fort Langley in 1827 was the initial step in
the occupation of the seaboard of British Columbia, and
the schooner Cadboro, which carried the men and supplies
for the new post, was the first sea-going vessel to navi-
gate the reaches of the lower Fraser. From Fort Langley,
for a few years, the trading on the north-west coast was
conducted.

American traders were active on the coast. Their vessels
visited the country between Vancouver Island and the Nass
River, and to drive them from this territory, as they had
been driven from the Columbia district, it was decided to
dot the coast with Hudson’s Bay Company trading-posts.
In 1832 old Fort Simpson was built at the mouth of the Nass
River, and there, among treacherous savages, the company’s
employees laboured until 1834, when the fort was moved to
the present site on the Tsimsean peninsula. In 1834 Finlay-
son, Manson and M¢Neill established Fort M¢Loughlin on
the waters of Millbank Sound. In the same year Fort
Nisqually, so important as an agricultural centre, was built,
and in the following year Fort Essington was founded to
serve as an intermediate station between Fort Simpson and
Fort Mc¢Loughlin. Thus the whole coast between Puget
Sound and the territory claimed by the Russians was occupied
by the company’s posts.

In 1825 a convention had been signed by Great Britain
and Russia, and under its terms the subjects of both countries
were free to navigate the Pacific and to trade with the natives
of any district not yet occupied by Europeans. The traders
might land at the posts of their rivals for shelter or repairs,
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but for no other purposes, unless express permission was
given. Prince of Wales Island was named as the southern
limit of the Russian territory. The right to trade in the
Russian /isiére and in the port of Sitka was granted to the
British for ten years, in all things save arms, ammunition
and spirits. As the Russian coast strip debarred the British
from access to their northern forts in the interior, they were
granted in perpetuity the privilege of using the streams
traversing this territory. It was not until 1834 that the
Hudson’s Bay Company endeavoured to make use of this
right. It was then decided to send a party north under
Ogden and Anderson to establish a post in the Russian hinter-
land drained by the Stikine River. When Baron Wrangel,
governor of Alaska, heard of the intention of the company,
he feared the effect this move would have on Russian trade,
and at once sent a message to his government requesting
that the clause of the convention granting the privilege of
navigating the Russian coast strip be rescinded. In taking
this step he claimed that the British company had violated
the agreement of 1825 by selling liquor to the Indians. The
czar granted Wrangel’s request, and the governments of both
the United States and Great Britain were notified to this
effect. But Wrangel did not wait for a reply to his message
to take steps to prevent the British from invading his terri-
tory. When the party sent to the Stikine arrived in the
Dryad, it found a Russian blockhouse at the mouth of the
river and also a corvette and two gunboats waiting to turn
them back, by armed force if necessary. The vessel was
forbidden to enter the river and the British were ordered,
if they wished to save themselves, their cargo and vessel,
to retire from those waters without delay. The company
entered a claim for twenty thousand dollars damages sus-
tained to their trade by this high-handed action of Governor
Wrangel. In 1839 a convention met in London to consider
the situation, and a decision advantageous to both the
Russians in Alaska and the Hudson’s Bay Company was
reached. The company agreed to waive its claim for damages
on condition that the Russian government would grant it a
lease of all its mainland territory lying between Cape Spencer



REGIME OF THE HUDSON’S BAY COMPANY 69

and latitude 54° 40’. For this concession it was to pay an
annual rental of two thousand land-otter skins and to supply
the Russian posts in Alaska with provisions at moderate
rates. This arrangement was renewed on three occasions ;
the second period was for ten years, and the third and fourth
for four years each. Immediately upon receipt of the result
of the convention of 1839 M¢Loughlin sent a strong ex-
pedition to the Stikine in the steamer Beaver, the pioneer
steamboat of the Pacific, to establish a fort there. This
expedition was led by James Douglas, who was accompanied
by W. G. Rae, Roderick Finlayson and John Mc¢Loughlin,
Junior, and fifty men. Shortly after they arrived at Taku
Inlet, Fort Durham, named after Lord Durham, was built
there.

While these coast posts were being established the inland
country was not neglected. John M¢Leod in 1832 ascended
the Upper Liard to Dease Lake, where in 1838 a post was
built by Robert Campbell. In 1840 and the years immedi-
ately following, Campbell extended the influence of his com-
pany into still more remote districts and discovered Lake
Frances, named in honour of Lady Simpson, and after a
journey in the farther west returned to this lake and finally
reached the Pelly River. With the hinterland of Alaska
invaded by the traders of the Hudson's Bay Company, and
the coast dotted with British posts, the trade of the Russians
was now confined to the Alaskan peninsula, and the American
traders found the business so. unprofitable that they practi-
cally retired from the north-west coast, and the Hudson's
Bay Company had the field largely to itself.

In New Caledonia Mc¢Loughlin had able lieutenants.
After 1824, when John Stuart retired from the district,
William Connolly reigned in his stead until 1830. Connolly
was followed by Peter Warren Dease (1830-34), who
gave place to the eccentric, daring, humorous Peter Skene
Ogden (1834-44). While Connolly was in charge at New
Caledonia, young Douglas was assigned to that district in
order that he might receive a thorough training in wilder-
ness trade. As has been stated, M¢Loughlin took a deep
interest in Douglas’s career. He caused him to be placed in the
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Stuart Lake region, where conditions were trying, in order that
he might receive an all-round development. In 1830 Douglas
was transferred to Fort Vancouver and in 1833 was promoted
to the rank of chief trader. Until the founding of Fort
Camosun (Victoria) he was M¢Loughlin’s right-hand man.
Without detracting from Douglas’s prestige, it is an indis-
putable fact that his career was shaped and his character
moulded by Dr John M¢Loughlin.

The development of the company’s interests went on
south of latitude 49°. Fort Nez Percés (Walla Walla) had
been constructed in the days of the North-West Company
at the scene of a valorous resistance to an Indian attack by
a party of traders under the leadership of Ogden. This fort
was followed, under the régime of M¢Loughlin, by Forts
Colvile, Boise, Hall, Umpqua, Cowlitz and others. About
1827 settlement began in the Willamette valley. Far to the
east in the Snake country Peter Skene Ogden, who had
played his part in the development of the company’s interests
in New Caledonia and on the coast, vigorously conducted
trading operations as far as Salt Lake. It seemed that the
British had firmly rooted themselves in the territory from
latitude 42° to 54° 40" ; but the years from 1840 to 1845
changed the whole situation.

The missionaries had already invaded the country and
brought with them a few settlers. These were followed in
the years just mentioned by ever-increasing numbers. The
policy of the Hudson’s Bay Company was opposed to settle-
ment, save by their own time-expired men, who were in most
cases still on their books. M¢Loughlin watched with alarm
this growing stream of immigrants who arrived through the
difficult passes of the Rockies, but under the principle of
joint occupancy he was powerless to prevent it. Many of
the immigrants were sick, helpless and poverty-stricken on
their arrival, and M¢Loughlin gave generous assistance to
them all. Soon the cry of *fifty-four-forty or fight’ was
heard in the Eastern States. In Oregon the newcomers
refused to submit to the rule of the British company and a
provisional government was formed. The governor and the
partners of the company did not approve of the help
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M¢Loughlin had given the immigrants, and he was instructed
by Simpson to cease giving such aid. He was likewise cen-
sured by the company for his conduct; but he had only
followed the dictates of common humanity, and could not
possibly have acted otherwise. To the company’s demand
he replied : ‘ Gentlemen, if such is your order, I will serve
you no longer.” He sent in his formal resignation in 1845.
It took effect a year later, and, as M¢Loughlin shortly after-
ward became a citizen of the United States, he passes out of
Canadian history, except in so far as his work lived on. The
structure he had so firmly based was later, when his protégé,
James Douglas, became the governor of the colony of Van-
couver Island and afterwards the governor of the colony of
British Columbia, to grow into a noble edifice.

The ‘fifty-four-forty or fight’ cry brought about the
settlement of the Oregon boundary dispute and the ulti-
mate retirement of the Hudson’s Bay Company from the
territory south of latitude 49°, but before this the inevitable
had been foreseen. A fort to replace Fort Vancouver was
needed as the north-west coast headquarters of the company,
and the task of selecting a location for this fort was assigned
to Douglas. The company had no fear that Vancouver
Island or the mainland north of latitude 49° would be handed
over to the United States as no American settlement had
been attempted in this region, whereas the Hudson's Bay
Company had posts at every point of vantage and a fleet
of well-armed ships, schooners and one steamer, the Beaver,

in those waters.
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I

THE FOUNDING OF THE COLONY OF
VANCOUVER ISLAND

THE Hudson’s Bay Company no doubt has its share

of sins to answer for—the common sins of modern
finance ; but among its shortcomings lack of fore-
sight or of broad business and political acumen were not
to be numbered. As in its scheme of administration all
the details reflected a system of perfect discipline and rigid
commercial rules, so politically nothing was overlooked which
affected in a large way the fortunes of the company or
those of the country over which its jurisdiction extended.
In Great Britain the shareholders and directors were men of
wealth and influence, who were intimate with public affairs
and closely in touch with men in public life. Their local
representatives in British North America were shrewd, active,
wideawake men, trained from boyhood in the science of fur-
trading, knowing every phase of its intricate mazes—hard-
headed, practical, vigilant partners. Officials of the stamp of
Sir George Simpson, Dr John Mc¢Loughlin, James Douglas,
Peter Skene Ogden and others were men of brains, of keen
intelligence and broad vision. No great corporation was
ever more thoroughly and wisely administered, and the system
of surveillance and control was complete.
When the Oregon boundary question! became acute, the
London directorate, while bending all its energies toward a
! For a full discussion of the Oregon boundary question see ‘ Boundary

Disputes and Treaties ’ in section 1v.
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settlement satisfactory to its own interests and to British
interests in North America, saw the possibility of a compro-
mise that would exclude the greater part of Oregon as a
sphere of operations, and made preparation for whatever
might occur. Contemporary records go to show that the
company exercised its great influence discreetly, but as effec-
tively as possible, and they also exculpate the servants of
the great corporation from many of the charges that were
laid at their door. The best evidence of the wisdom and
foresight of the company’s officers was the decision to remove
their headquarters to a point which in all human probability
would be safely within acknowledged British territory. With
characteristic sagacity they had concluded that the 49th
parallel would ultimately form the boundary between the two
countries and that Vancouver Island in its entirety would
be British. The southern extremity of the island, with its
picturesque environment and striking outlines, had attracted
the attention of Captain M¢Neill in 1837 and later that of
Sir George Simpson, and it naturally suggested itself as an
eligible site for a future post.

After the decision had been reached to select new quarters,
the responsibility of reporting upon a site was assigned to
James Douglas, first and confidential assistant of Dr
Mc¢Loughlin. Early in 1842 Douglas left Fort Nisqually in
the schooner Cadboro, and after a careful examination of
the adjacent coast he selected what he called the ‘ Port of
Camosack,” which was considered to be the most advan-
tageous situation for the purpose in hand within the Strait
of Juan de Fuca. Douglas called the place ‘Camosack’
and always afterward used that name, but it is more than
likely that ‘ Camosun ’ was its Indian name. At all events,
the fort of Victoria was first called Fort Camosun,! a name
that has lingered under various forms since that time.

Fort Camosun, as we shall call it, was chosen after several
weeks’ minute examination, during which other possible sites

1 The origin of the word Camosun is unknown. It has been suggested that it
comes from Camass, a plant with an edible root that grew abundantly in the
district, and that the name indicated ‘the place of Camass ’; but excellent
authorities think this wnlikely.

TN ———
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were located. In his elaborate report to Dr Mc¢Loughlin,
Douglas dwells upon the advantages and disadvantages of
each. The objections to all but Camosun seem to have been
poor harbour facilities, or too rugged surroundings or lack
of water. He even discarded the fine harbour of Esqui-
malt on account of its unattractive surroundings—rock and
wood and mountainous background. The open park-like
aspect of the Camosun district, the fertile nature of the soil
and the general picturesqueness of the situation appealed
strongly to Douglas. The abundance of nutritious grasses,
especially the luxuriant growth of clover, is remarked upon,
and when we remember that agriculture was included among
the operations of the company we can understand more
clearly his reasons for the selection. On the whole, it must
be admitted that he chose well, although, had he been locating
a future commercial city, he might more wisely perhaps have
considered the advantages of the harbour at Esquimalt.

Douglas was also influenced by the fact that on the ‘ Canal
of Camosack '—now known as ‘the Gorge '—about two
miles distant from the proposed site of the fort, was ‘ bound-
less water power,” which he proposed to use for operating
mills. The ‘ boundless ' power was to some extent a fiction.
At the narrow point where the tide rushes to and fro at ebb
and flow, boats pass at nearly all stages of the tide, and at
full tide the water is almost placid. At this time there were
a number of Indians in the vicinity, and what was afterwards
the Songhees reserve in Victoria West, on the opposite side
of the harbour from the fort, was a favourite gathering-place.
This may have had something to do with the selection of the
site, as the invariable policy of the Hudson’s Bay Company
was to locate its posts where the Indians were wont to
assemble.

The report of Douglas was acted upon promptly. The
state of feeling in the United States was no doubt an incen-
tive to haste. In the following March James Douglas, in
charge of a party for the purpose of erecting a fort, embarked
at Nisqually in the old Beaver, and Camosun was soon the
scene of great activity. The company had previously estab-
lished posts at Taku Inlet and Millbank Sound, and it was
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now decided to concentrate forces at Camosun. The Beaver
went north and soon returned with reinforcements—Roderick
Finlayson and the men who had manned the northern forts
—bringing the total number at the new fort up to fifty. In
addition to these, Indians were employed to cut timber for
the stockade. Whether from motives of economy or as a
matter of necessity, the entire buildings as well as the stockade
were constructed without a single nail being driven, wooden
pegs being used instead. By the end of the summer the
establishment, erected on the well-understood lines of Hud-
son’s Bay Company design, was completed and Douglas
returned to Vancouver. Charles Ross was left in charge
of the post, with Roderick Finlayson!® second in command.
Ross, however, did not live long to enjoy his honours. He
died in about a year, and Finlayson was left in charge of Fort
Camosun.

It is worthy of record in this connection that along with
Douglas came Father Bolduc, the pioneer missionary of
British Columbia. While the fort was being built Bolduc
went among the Indians and preached to them, and was so
successful in his endeavours that large numbers of the Indians
were baptized. His apparent success was not unlike that
of the earliest missionaries on the Atlantic coast, who, as
recorded in the Jesuit Relations, baptized the natives whole-
sale, and were highly elated as a consequence. It does not
appear, however, that any definite or lasting spiritual effect
was made.

The name Camosun was not retained. Shortly after
the establishment of the post it was named Fort Albert in
honour of the Prince Consort, and soon afterward was
changed to Victoria, in compliment to Her Majesty the Queen.
No sooner was the fort erected than attention was paid to
agricultural pursuits, and the operations in Oregon were
duplicated in a more limited way. Several farms were
established. Land was cleared and tilled and stock was
imported from the farms at Nisqually and Cowlitz. At

! To Roderick Finlayson’s diary, printed privately years afterwards, we are
indebted for the details of the work and for much interesting history in connection
with the progress of Victoria.
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that time there were no settlers on Vancouver Island. The
white inhabitants were servants of the company drawn from
various posts. As ‘ships from England had orders to sail
direct for this port, and after landing all the goods destined
for the coast trade, to proceed to the Columbia River with
the remainder,’” Fort Victoria gradually grew in importance.
The buildings were added to from time to time, agricultural
implements were imported or improvised, wheat was ground
into flour, wharves and warehouses built.

In 1846 there were one hundred and sixty acres under
cultivation and two large dairies had been established. In
1847 three hundred acres were under cultivation, and in the
same year two Russian vessels took from Victoria for Sitka
large quantities of wheat, beef and mutton—all local produce.
In 1849, three years after the settlement of the boundary dis-
pute, Victoria became the headquarters of the Hudson’s Bay
Company for the Western Department. Hither, instead of
to Fort Vancouver, came the ships from England with
supplies, and returned home laden with the furs collected
from the various western posts of the company.

No sooner had the Oregon Boundary Treaty been signed
than Sir John Pelly, governor of the Hudson's Bay Company,
began to negotiate with the home government for a firmer
control of the lands north of the 49th parallel. His corre-
spondence with Earl Grey, secretary of state for the Colonies,
displays great astuteness. The desire of the company to
absorb the entire territory north and west of Rupert’s Land
was clothed with adroit suggestions about ‘the conversion
to Christianity and civilization of the native population,’ the
colonization and settlement of the country, and the exclu-
sion of the unruly element that had populated Oregon. At
first Earl Grey was not quite satisfied as to the right of the
company to receive and hold in its corporate capacity lands
within the dominion of the British crown, but, satisfied as
to that, he politely intimated that the company should
submit ‘another scheme which should be more limited and
defined in its object, and yet embrace a plan for the coloniza-
tion and government of Vancouver’s Island.’ Under the
terms of the ‘licence of exclusive trade’ of 1821, which in
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1838 had been extended for twenty years, the company had
a monopoly of the mainland for trading purposes, and whether
Sir John Pelly, in his sweeping request for territory, really
wished to place the whole western country under the Hudson'’s
Bay Company’s control or was simply aiming at making sure
of the small realm of Vancouver Island cannot be determined.
At all events, if he over-reached himself in the original pro-
posal, he finally succeeded in having the island granted to
his company by royal proclamation of January 1849.

By the terms of this instrument the ‘Governor and
Company of Adventurers of England Trading into Hudson's
Bay,” and their successors, were given the island, with the
royalties of its seas, and all mines belonging to it. They
were made lords and proprietors of the land for ever, subject
only to the domination of the British crown, and to an annual
rent of seven shillings payable on the first day of the year.
They were to settle upon the island within five years a colony
of British subjects, for to this end alone was the gift made ;
and to dispose of land for purposes of colonization at reason-
able prices, retaining of all the moneys received from such
sources, as well as from coal or other minerals, ten per cent,
and applying to public improvements upon the island the
remaining nine-tenths. Such lands as might be necessary
for a naval station, and for other government establishments,
were to be reserved ; and every two years the company
should report to the government the number of colonists
settled upon the island, and the lands sold. If at the expira-
tion of five years no settlement should have been made, the
grant should be forfeited ; and if at the expiration of the
company'’s licence of exclusive trade with the Indians in 1859
the government should so elect, it might recover the island
from the company on payment of such sums of money as had
been actually expended by it in colonization. That is to
say, the crown reserved the right to recall the grant at the
end of five years should the company, either from lack of
ability or will, fail to colonize, and to buy it back at the end
of ten years by the payment of whatever sum the company
should have in the meantime expended. Except during
hostilities between Great Britain and foreign powers, the



THE COLONY OF VANCOUVER ISLAND 81

company was to defray the expenses of all civil and military
establishments for the government and protection of the
island !

The grant of Vancouver Island to the Hudson’s Bay
Company on the terms recited in the foregoing was not made
without much opposition in the British parliament, in the
British press and from various individuals. Loud complaint
had been made about the manner in which Rupert's Land
had been administered, and among others W. E. Gladstone
was on principle strongly opposed to the arrangement.
James E. Fitzgerald, who wrote An Examination of the
Charter and Proceedings of the Hudson's Bay Company, with
Reference to the Grant of Vancouver's Island, a strong but
extreme attack upon the company, made a determined effort
to obtain a grant of the island for a company proposed to be
formed by himself, upon terms generous in the interests of
the public; but as he could give no sufficient guarantee for
the undertaking, his application was not seriously con-
sidered. Nevertheless, Fitzgerald’s attack was adverse to
the interests of the company, and had he been more moderate
and less obviously moved by personal motives, he might have
met with greater success. In many respects the grant to
the Hudson’s Bay Company, more especially at that par-
ticular time, was a wise one. That corporation had, as has
been stated, a sort of blanket charter over the whole of the
western British territory by reason of its exclusive right to
trade with the natives. It had sufficient capital to carry
out successfully any scheme of colonization it might feel in-
clined to inaugurate. Monopoly of the fur trade was almost
a necessity in view of the fact that competition was invariably
accompanied by traffic in ardent spirits, whereby the natives
were demoralized and the trade itself seriously injured. The
experience of the past in the Middle West and on the north-
west coast had sufficiently demonstrated that. The com-
pany was familiar with the country and its resources. Its
officials thoroughly understood the natives and could influ-
ence and control them. Through almost unbounded facilities
they could conduct trade and develop the country in a way

! Bancroft's British Columbia, pp. 219-20.
VOL. XXI F
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not possible by individual effort. The Puget Sound Agri-
cultural Company, closely allied to the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany, had for its object agricultural development, and,
strongly entrenched on Vancouver Island, it would be able
to increase the trade already begun with the Russian settle-
ments of the north-west coast and with the islands of the
Pacific. It all depended upon the bona fides of the company
and the conditions surrounding the settlement of the island.
The company could do great things for the island and for
the coast, or it could, under the pretence of carrying out its
agreement, throttle all real progress and practically keep the
country as a fur preserve.

As it was, without implying premeditated bad faith on
the part of the company, what happened was the very reverse
of the ideal and the possible. Corporations are popularly
supposed to be without soul, and being an impersonal aggre-
gation of persons consequently without either conscience or
imagination. It would be useless to expect a corporation,
whose sole object was to make money out of furs, to under-
take earnestly a campaign of settlement and development,
the early and logical conclusion of which would be the extinc-
tion of its raison d'étre. In control, and far from the seat of
government, or, as alleged of the Russian Fur Company in
Alaska, far from ‘ God and the Czar,” it was easy for the
company so to manage its affairs as to make the possible
impossible and still keep within the letter of the law. For
instance, it was stipulated in the grant that lands should be
sold at a reasonable price, and judging somewhat, no doubt,
by conditions in England, Earl Grey thought a pound an
acre would be ‘ reasonable,” to which with the best possible
intention was attached the further stipulation that the pur-
chaser of every hundred acres was to place thereon five men
or three settlers. When we take into consideration the cost
of clearing and putting into a state of cultivation this land,
and the expense of bringing out men and families to place on
it, it is obvious that only rich men could become colonists,
and rich men enjoying the comforts of an English home were
not apt, pro bono publico, to become pioneers in a new and
rough colony. In allowing Earl Grey to fix these onerous
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conditions the company was serving its own purposes ex-
tremely well, and the policy adopted worked out precisely as
might have been expected. The company reserved all the
land within ten miles of Victoria—the best land for farming
purposes and the most easily cleared—and settlers were
obliged to go into districts more remote to obtain land, most
of which was heavily timbered and without adequate com-
munication with the fort, the then centre of western civiliza-
tion and the depot of supplies. Moreover, by virtue of the
monopoly in trade, settlers were obliged to buy supplies from
the company at the company’s highest price and to sell to
the company their produce at whatever price the company
chose to fix. Anyattempt at private trading, or any enterprise
not contributing to the Hudson's Bay Company’s profits or
that came into competition with its operations, was promptly
stamped out by those methods in restraint of trade that are
invisibly applied, but most conspicuous in effect. Captain
James Cooper, an immigrant of 1851, took to trading on the
mainland on his own account with the natives in cranberries
and potatoes for the San Francisco market, but the Hudson’s
Bay Company immediately began to pay such prices for
those commodities that Captain Cooper abandoned the field
and took to farming at Metchosin, an experiment scarcely
more successful.

If, however, Earl Grey erred in making the arrangement
he did with the Hudson’s Bay Company for the coloniza-
tion and administration of Vancouver Island, it was with
his eyes open ; or, rather, he did not do it without being
warned of its consequences, and that, too, by a commissioner
of his own appointing. While Sir John Pelly was at his ear
with soft and enticing appeals, he chose to take advice from
another quarter. Lieutenant Adam D. Dundas, of the royal
navy, had served for two years on the north-west coast,
and at Fort Vancouver, where he had spent much time, he
had had an opportunity of studying the system under which
the company carried on the government of its domain—the
term ‘government’ being used deliberately, because the
Hudson’s Bay Company was a law unto itself—and he was
requested to report upon the possible advantages or disad-
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vantages that might accrue from an imperium in imperio
such as was proposed. His report was entirely unfavourable,
and he had no hesitation in saying that such a system, the
operation of which he had observed, ‘ would be wholly and
totally inapplicable to the nursing of a young colony, with
the hope of ever bringing it to maturity.’” Remarking on
what appeared to him ‘ overbearingly illiberal usurpation of
power on the part of the Hudson’s Bay Company,” he con-
cluded that however necessary its system might be found in
dealing with savages, it would not accord well with the feel-
ings of colonists. His objections were well expressed in the
following paragraph of his report :

That this powerful company have the ability to form
advantageous Settlements in these unfrequented parts,
there is not a doubt, but when their trade is wholly
carried on with the Aborigines, is it to be Supposed, that
they would aid in the advancement of Civilization when
from time immemorial it has been proved that progress
of the one has ever been at the expense of the other ?
and should the natives cease to exist, why, their occupa-
tion is gone. It is only a natural Conclusion then to
arrive at that the efforts which the Hudson’s Bay Com-
pany are putting forward to obtain either a direct or
indirect influence in Vancouver Island are with the Sole
motive of protracting to as late a period as possible a
monopoly which they have so long enjoyed and which
could not benefit the country, the only object of establish-
ing a Settlement in Such a distant quarter. The Puget
Sound Company are doubtless equally anxious for
Hudson’s Bay jurisdiction, but it must be at the same
time remembered that these two Companies are wholly
incorporated in each other, and their interests are mutu-
ally blended, their object being to engross all those other
available sources of revenue to which the fur trade is not
¢ immediately applicable.’

On the other hand, his report was entirely favourable to
Vancouver Island as a field for settlement. Lieutenant
Dundas was probably extreme in his characterization of the
company’s methods and did not take sufficiently into con-
sideration all the circumstances of the case, the primitive
elements with which the company had to deal, and the neces-
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sity for stern discipline and for what one might almost be
excused in calling devious methods; but in the main he
arrived at a just, and what in the end proved to be a correct,
conclusion. Of course, Earl Grey in rejecting his report
undoubtedly recommended what he considered to be the
best thing to do at the time, and fortified himself with a
saving clause for revision, or if necessary cancellation, of the
grant after a short term of years. Considering all things, it
is not possible, even now, to say that it was not the best
course. It cannot be safely concluded that the grant, under
the conditions upon which it was made, was a real impedi-
ment to progress or development. It is not at all likely that
at that period any settlement would have taken place before
the discovery of gold, and the Hudson’s Bay Company made
substantial improvements in the vicinity of Victoria and
formed the nucleus of settlement and civilization that was
highly useful and advantageous when the rush of miners
took place in 1858. Law and order were established, the
machinery existed for the administration of justice; there
was a depot of ample supplies, and to some extent means
of communication were provided. What is very important,
the Hudson’s Bay Company, by its operations throughout a
vast extent of territory which centred at Victoria, saved the
country for Canada, Great Britain and the Empire. Its
traditions and influence were thoroughly British, and to what-
ever extent it colonized, it colonized for the homeland, and
without its practical control of the country it is easy to con-
ceive that the inrush of American miners might have created a
community in British Columbia whose sentiment would have
altered the political destiny of the Dominion of Canada.

It is now in order to consider what may be termed
the constitutional fabric of the government of Vancouver
Island. Earl Grey, while ceding outright the lands of the
new colony to the Hudson’s Bay Company, did not propose
that the company should derive any pecuniary benefit beyond
ten per cent of the receipts, which was a fair allowance
for management. All profits arising from the sale of lands
or minerals were to be applied toward colonization and the
improvement of the island. Moreover, the grant was still
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further encumbered by provision for local self-government.
As Sir John Pelly had disavowed any desire on the part of
the company to make profit out of the land, he could not
object to the stipulation about the application of the funds ;
and as to the question of representative government, it was
accepted no doubt with the mental reservation that it would
be respected more in the breach than in the observance. A
few white settlers in a remote part of the Empire, wholly
dependent upon the Hudson’s Bay Company and the Puget
Sound Agricultural Company for their existence, were not
likely to wish to govern themselves or to have a voice in the
management of their affairs. But Sir John had not reckoned
on the instincts of the free-born Britisher whom he proposed
to transplant to the virgin soil of the Far West, where the
very air was redolent of freedom, and it was inevitable that
some, if not all, of the colonists, knowing their rights, would
demand them. Earl Grey made provision for the represen-
tative institutions usual among Anglo-Saxon communities,
and for a governor. The latter would be directed to summon
an assembly, elected by the general vote of the inhabitants,
to exercise, along with himself, the law-making power. The
secretary of state for the Colonies was not unwilling to re-
ceive suggestions from the Hudson's Bay Company as to the
choice of a governor, and Sir John Pelly availed himself of
the opportunity to recommend James Douglas, the company’s
chief representative on the Pacific coast. At the same time
he submitted the names of fourteen men as justices of the
peace, all officials and all prominent in the service. It will
be interesting for that very reason to enumerate them : the
Rev. R. J. Staines, chaplain at Victoria: Peter Skene
Ogden, joint manager with Douglas west of the Rocky
Mountains ; James Douglas himself ; John Work! a chief
factor—explorer, scholar, essayist and local historian—well
known throughout the Oregon territory ; Arch. M¢Kinlay,
afterwards one of three commissioners for British Columbia ;
Dr W. F. Tolmie, physician, botanist, self-constituted mis-
sionary, and manager of the Nisqually farm ; Alexander

1 This pioneer was registered as an employee of the Hudson’s Bay Company
as John Work, but his real name was Wark.
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Caulfield Anderson, a chief factor, explorer, scholar, essayist
and local historian: John Tod, the eccentric and fearless
trader and factor ; Dugald M¢Tavish, another chief factor,
far-famed in the West; Richard Grant, Donald Manson,
James Murray, George T. Allen and John Kennedy. These
recommendations found favour and were confirmed ; but in
the case of James Douglas as governor, though Sir John Pelly
in September 1848 was notified of his acceptability for the
post, the honour did not at first fall to him. Earl Grey did
not think it would be judicious to appoint a governor so
closely associated with Hudson’s Bay Company affairs as
was Douglas, though, as it turned out, it made little difference
to the actual situation, as the Hudson’s Bay Company was
supreme, and Douglas was the uncrowned king. The white
population, exceedingly limited in number, were servants of
the company, the officials of which not only directed its
affairs but were lords of the domain. An independent
governor was not of much more service than a fifth wheel to
a coach, and, so far as the company’s interests—the entire
interests of the colony—were concerned, not less of an im-
pediment. Richard Blanshard was the governor chosen,
unluckily for himself. For the present, however, it is de-
sirable to turn back and review some of the events that
intervene between the founding of Victoria and the date
of Blanshard’s appointment before dwelling upon his brief
experience in a gubernatorial capacity.

The operations of the Hudson’s Bay Company fort under
Roderick Finlayson were watched with great interest by the
Indians, various tribes of whom assembled in the neighbour-
hood, well armed and alert. Bancroft speaks of two chiefs
in particular, Tsilalthach, of the Songhees, and Tsoughilam,
of the Cowichans. We are informed that the natives stole
and feasted upon some of the company’s Mexican cattle,
and that their chiefs, when brought to task for the theft by
Finlayson, assumed a defiant attitude. They referred to
these animals as ‘ the property of nature,” roaming in fields
which were theirs from time immemorial. The gifts brought
by kind nature they took, asking no questions and account-
ing to no one. By a demonstration of force—the firing
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of several cannon shots—they were speedily convinced of
the superiority of the white man in war, and were glad
to make good with furs the loss of the cattle and to
smoke the pipe of peace. On another occasion the Songhees
attacked the Skagits, who had come to Camosun to trade,
and filched them of their goods, whereupon Finlayson
demanded, under threat of severe penalties, full restoration
by the Songhees, and he was obeyed. Thus was the majesty
of Hudson’s Bay Company law made supreme, and trade
relations continued uninterrupted. Fort Victoria was secure
thereafter.

From 1843 to 1849 nothing of extraordinary interest or
importance transpired. Farms were cultivated in increased
acreage and trading in furs went on. The monotony of the
social life of the fort was occasionally relieved by visitors, some
of them distinguished. In addition to the company’s ships
which soon came direct from England, a fleet of American
whalers arrived at Victoria for supplies in 1845. This was the
first of a number of such visits. In 1845, too, came Captain
Gordon, Captain Park, and Lieutenant Peel, son of Sir Robert
Peel, in H.M.S. America. Gordon was a brother of the
British prime minister, the Earl of Aberdeen, and his mission
was to gather information respecting the country to aid the
home government in settling the Oregon boundary question.
Finlayson gives in his diary an amusing account of Captain
Gordon’s disgust with his hunting and fishing experiences
in the country. Gordon was the officer concerning whom
the pleasant fiction originated that Oregon was lost to Great
Britain because, as the Columbia River salmon would not
rise to his fly, he reported the country as worthless. It is
probable that his report was not optimistic, but the issue did
not hang on so trivial an incident. When the excitement
in the United States about the Oregon boundary was at its
height, and the slogan of * fifty-four-forty or fight ' was heard
throughout the land, some half-dozen ships of war appeared
on the north-west coast to guard British interests, and called
at Victoria, among them two surveying vessels, the Herald
and the Pandora, the former commanded by Captain Kellett,
afterwards of Arctic fame. Captain Duntze of the Fisgard,
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one of the fleet, was subsequently commissioned to report on
the coal supply of Vancouver Island for steaming purposes,
and reported favourably on a seam in the vicinity of M¢Neill
Harbour. The existence of coal there had been reported to
the Hudson’s Bay Company officials as early as 1835 and
at various times after that year. About this period, too,
Lieutenants Warre and Vavasour, two British engineers,
whose reports on the north-west coast in connection with the
Oregon boundary have become classics of Western Americana,
visited the island. Berthold Seeman, naturalist, was on
board H.M.S. Herald, and wrote, among other things of local
interest, a description of the fort. Perhaps the most interest-
ing of these visitors was Paul Kane,! an artist, who was enter-
tained by Finlayson in the fort and who spent some time in
the vicinity of Fort Victoria and on the coast of the mainland
studying the Indians. Captain Mayne, who wrote such an
interesting and authoritative work on British Columbia, paid
his first visit to Fort Victoria in 1849. These occasional
visitations from the outside world greatly relieved the tedium
of what must have been a monotonous and isolated existence
in and around the fort.

Several notable events occurred in 1849. In this year
Vancouver Island from an unorganized geographical division
attained to the status of a colony, and provisions were made
for a governor, and for representative government after
a fashion. Richard Blanshard was appointed governor in
July. The existence of coal at Nanaimo was disclosed to the
Hudson’s Bay Company, a discovery which more deeply
affected the future of the island than any other known cir-
cumstance. The first truly independent settlement took place
when in June Captain W. Colquhoun Grant and eight others
arrived in the ship Harpoon.

Probably the political development may be regarded as the
most important of the events enumerated. Blanshard’s brief
experience as governor was a tragedy. He was an Englishman
with aspirations, learned in the law. As the Hudson’s Bay
Company had proposed that James Douglas should serve, as
a temporary arrangement, without emolument, in accepting

1 See section vI, pp. 516, 517, and 596.
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the office Blanshard could not expect more than the empty
honour pertaining to it. Of what passed in secret between
him and Earl Grey or Sir John Pelly there is no record, but
he no doubt anticipated that when settlement had advanced
and political conditions on the island had been satisfied he
would be accorded consideration similar to that enjoyed by
the governors of other crown colonies. His conception of
the dignity and status of the governor of Vancouver Island
coincided with his impressions of colonial governorships in
general, and with little or no knowledge of the actual con-
ditions to which he was foredoomed we can readily imagine
his buoyancy of spirit as he looked forward to the rdle he was
to play in the newest part of the New World. When he
arrived at Victoria, on March 10, 1850, in H.M.S. Driver he
was destined to a rude awakening. His passage out cost
him three hundred pounds, of which the company paid one
hundred and seventy-five pounds. This proved to be the
full extent of his indemnity then or afterwards. Douglas
must have had notification of his coming, but Blanshard
found no accommodation of any sort provided for him, and
he was dependent for ‘ bed and board’ upon the captain of
the Driver, in which vessel he read his commission and
proclamation to the officers of the Driver and Cormorant and
the officials of the Hudson’s Bay Company. As Bancroft
naively expressed it, ‘ for some time thereafter the government
headquarters were migratory. Being on board the Driver,
wherever that vessel went, the government was obliged to go.’
Later on, he resided in the fort until quarters were provided
for him just outside the palisades. His plight was truly
pitiable. Before leaving England he had been promised,
verbally, one thousand acres of land. When he applied for
this land to James Douglas, who had no knowledge of the
arrangement, he was referred to headquarters. It transpired
that the company viewed the promise as referring to land to
be occupied and used only while he acted in the capacity of
governor. He was refused one hundred acres, out of the
thousand, as a settler. He had no government offices and
he was allowed no clerical assistance. He paid all his ex-
penses out of his own pocket, and his living cost him at the
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rate of eleven hundred pounds a year. His presence and his
authority were practically ignored by the Hudson’s Bay
Company officials. For all articles he purchased from the
fort stores he was obliged to pay the cash price charged to
settlers, which was three hundred per cent above the London
prices; and as there were only about two dozen settlers to
govern and no governmental institutions to administer or
preside over, his official duties consisted, in the main, in
settling petty disputes among the servants of the company, of
which it appears there were not a few. This is the gist of
the grievances presented in his letters to Earl Grey and in
his statement before the select committee of the House of
Commons, appointed in 1857 to inquire into the affairs of the
Hudson’s Bay Company in North America. From his own
testimony we learn that his only work was that which would
form part of the duties of an ordinary justice of the peace, and
we cannot wonder at, and can readily forgive, the irritation
and lugubriousness displayed in his dispatches and letters
home, of which Earl Grey seemed to tire. At all events,
instead of sympathizing with Blanshard’s misfortunes, the
secretary of state for the Colonies was more inclined to be
censorious. The governor’s position was anomalous and
humiliating ; he was without a population to govern, without
recognition of office and socially isolated, and without official
residence or stipend.

Richard Blanshard was undoubtedly an honest, well-
meaning man. He was not afraid to do what he conceived
to be his duty and to act promptly, but unless we assume that
he was cruelly deceived by promises made to him prior to his
coming to Vancouver Island, and was practically the victim
of conspiracy, he must have been exceedingly simple-minded
and trustful and unused to the ways of the world. His treat-
ment, on either assumption, reflects no credit on the Hudson’s
Bay Company or on the secretary of state for the Colonies.
Notwithstanding the really inferior position Her Majesty’s
representative occupied in the new colony, his coming was
historically and politically most important in its signifi-
cance. It portended the early elimination of the fur trader’s
sovereignty and was at least the outward and formal sign of
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the establishment of British supremacy and British institu-
tions on the North Pacific coast. To contrast the conditions
that Blanshard encountered with those that exist to-day,
sixty-three years later, is to measure an era of development
which prior to 1800 would have taken centuries to achieve
in equal degree. Agricultural operations then represented
scattered patches of cultivated land, pastured fields and
dairies, to which from the fort led winding lanes and beyond
which was wilderness. The countryside presented as yet
the original aspect of a state of nature. Deer roamed in the
natural parks surrounding the fort ; coveys of grouse abode
in the thickets or perched on the rocky eminences; wild
fowl in flocks frequented the swamps and marshes within the
present site of the city of Victoria, and the lordly elk had not
then quitted the peninsula, but grazed with the cattle in the
fields.

Governor Blanshard was voluminous in his correspondence,
and his dispatches had a pessimistic note throughout that must
have been irritating to the minister of state, who was more or
less responsible for some at least of the conditions of which he
complained. At the same time, the governor’s observations
often displayed a measure of ability, and, on the whole, gave
a correct estimate of the situation. His public service, apart
from the magisterial duties already referred to, consisted
largely in a visit to Fort Rupert and vicinity and his investiga-
tion into the Indian troubles, for a time critical in their nature,
and into the coal-mining industry and the relations of the
miners with the Hudson’s Bay Company, which were far from
being satisfactory. The miners he reported as being ex-
tremely discontented, their discontent amounting at times to
open revolt. He remarked on the thinness of the seams and
the poor quality of the coal. The acreage of arable land on
the island, he stated, was exceedingly limited. The Indians,
then estimated at ten thousand in number, he reported as
diminishing and described them as ‘ savage and treacherous.’
An Indian massacre of white men at Fort Rupert greatly
excited the miners, who refused obedience to employers
and magistrates, refused to act as constables, insisted upon
abandonment of the settlement, and even openly accused
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the Hudson’s Bay Company of instigating the murders. He
warned the home government of the dangers to settlers and
miners in the outlying districts, and in one of his dispatches
refers to complaints of Indian outrages at Sooke, where
Captain Grant, who asked for protection, had located. He
pressed upon Earl Grey the necessity of a garrison at
Esquimalt, a detachment of which should be stationed at
Fort Rupert for the safety of the colony. His dispatches
were a series of complaints and forebodings. That nothing
very serious happened and that the colony survived is perhaps
evidence that his views were coloured by the mental effect of
his own disappointing experiences. In respect to carrying
out his instructions to appoint a council, he dwelt in one dis-
patch upon the scanty material for such a body to be found
in the colony. There were no settlers, and few officers of the
Hudson’s Bay Company possessed the qualifications for mem-
bership in a house of assembly, and he requested the home
government to send him further instructions in the matter.
The Indian troubles at Fort Rupert, which have been
the subject of much discussion, deserve particular mention.
A contributing cause of discontent, previously referred to,
was the excitement in California over the discovery of gold.
Farm labourers, sailors and miners in the employment of the
company, all under contract, were only too willing to break
their bonds and escape to the gold-fields. In one instance,
at least, such conduct had a tragic result. Three sailors
belonging to company’s vessels lying at Victoria deserted to
the ship England, on the way from San Francisco to Fort
Rupert for coal. At Fort Rupert, news of their desertion
having been forwarded to officials there, they escaped to the
woods, and it was alleged that a Mr Blenkinsop, acting for
the company, sent Indians in pursuit with instructions to
bring the deserters in, dead or alive. The Indians returned
with a report that they had killed the white men, and claimed
the reward. It being easier to kill them and leave their
bodies than to bring them back, the natives naturally followed
the line of least resistance. This is the story told by Ban-
croft, whose prejudices against the Hudson’s Bay Company
are frequently revealed, but the tale was obtained from biased
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sources. It is not at all likely that the Hudson’s Bay
Company, whose policy was always to respect and protect
the lives of its servants, would have been guilty of such a
palpable crime. When the natives killed an employee, it
was an invariable rule to punish the death, not so much in
the spirit of revenge as for the deterrent effects of punish-
ment. Pro pelle cutem has always been the motto of the
company, and this might fittingly be translated ‘an eye for
an eye, and a tooth for a tooth.” The truth seems to have
been that Fort Rupert Indians had been sent after the
deserters to a district where they were said to have been
seen, and found that the three men had been killed by
Newittees, a tribe which had no concern in the pursuit.
The Rupert Indians reported the facts to Blenkinsop, and
the bodies were brought in and buried in the garden of the
fort with Christian rites. It must be remembered that
there was a great deal of excitement at the time among both
the whites and the Indians. The entire force of white miners
ceased work and hid themselves with the object of taking
passage to San Francisco in the England. The men and the
natives had secured intoxicating liquors from the ship, and
matters assumed a critical aspect. It is not unnatural that
with such a condition of affairs a distorted version of the
whole incident should have gained publicity. It may be
explained here that shortly after Governor Blanshard’s first
visit to Fort Rupert, in order to preserve quiet among the
miners, he appointed Dr J. S. Helmcken, the company’s
physician at the mines, who had recently arrived in the
Norman Morrison with a number of settlers, a justice of the
peace. One account of the subsequent proceedings, which
is believed to be fairly accurate, is taken from the Biographical
Dictionary of Well-Known British Columbians, and is as
follows :

A month or so after the departure of the England
H.M.S. Daedalus arrived at Fort Rupert with Governor
Blanshard on board. When the governor was placed in
possession of the true facts of the case it was decided that
Dr Helmcken should go and demand the surrender of the
murderers, in the usual manner. The doctor accordingly
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set off with an interpreter and a half dozen Indians for
Newittee. On entering the harbour he was met by four
or five hundred Indians, painted black, and armed with
muskets, spears, axes and other weapons, and all making
the usual hideous noise which they employ to strike terror
into their enemies. Dr Helmcken explained his mission
to them from the canoe. The chief answered him that
they would not and could not give up the murderers, but
were willing to pay for the murdered men as many
blankets, furs and other articles as might reasonably be
demanded, this being their law and custom in such cases.
Of course this was declined, and they were told that they
were bringing great misery on themselves by not acceding
to the demand of King George's law [sic]. When
Dr Helmcken returned and made known to Governor
Blanshard and Captain Wellesley the decision of the
Newittee chiefs, it was decided to send boats and men
to seize the murderers or to punish the tribes. The boats
arrived only to find a deserted village. The crew partly
destroyed the village and returned without having seen
a member of the tribe. Shortly after this the Daedalus
left Fort Rupert and, when near Cape Scott, she was
fired at, and a sailor slightly wounded. This may not,
however, have been the work of the Newittees, but of
some other Indians, who simply intended saluting the
ship. The year following H.M.S. Daphne went up to
punish the tribe if they still refused to give up the
murderers. On this occasion they were found in a new
camp They peremptorily refused the demands of the
captain and accordingly the crew prepared to attack
them. The Indians fired and wounded several of the
sailors, who thereupon went at them. The Indians,
however, fled to the thick woods in the rear, where they
could not be followed. Only two Indians were killed in
this skirmish. The village huts were then destroyed and
the Daphne left. Governor Blanshard now ordered
rewards to be offered for the delivery of the murderers.
The Newittees by this time had had quite enough, and
fearing another attack they determined to make their
peace by handing over the malefactors. They made an
attempt to seize these men, but it was so clumsily done
that in the scuffle a young chief was killed and another
wounded. So the murderers were shot and their dead
bodies brought to Mr Blenkinsop at Fort Rupert, where
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they were buried. It is believed, however, that one of
the murderers escaped, and to make up the full number
aslave was substituted. The reward offered by Governor
Blanshard was asked for, but Mr Blenkinsop declined
to pay it. He gave the Indians who had a right to
the money a letter to Governor Blanshard at Victoria.
Whether it was ever delivered is unknown.

While the Daedalus was at Fort Rupert, Governor
Blanshard held a court of inquiry, but after hearing the
evidence he gave a very enigmatical decision. The fact
was that his first dispatches to the Imperial Government,
concerning the affair, which he had sent before he left
Victoria, were based on ex parte statements, and when he
came to inquire into the matter he found his error ; an
error, however, which he did not choose to acknowledge
in view of the unfavourable light in which such an
admission would undoubtedly have placed him. He made
no complaint whatever of the conduct of Mr Blenkinsop
or Dr Helmcken in the affair, and as Blanshard was inimi-
cal to the Hudson’s Bay Company, he certainly would
not have omitted to censure the officers of the company
had there been any reasonable ground so to do.

In due time answers came to Governor Blanshard’s dis-
patches, urging him to appoint his council without delay and
informing him that Her Majesty’s government could not
undertake to maintain a detachment of troops on the island.
He was even censured by Earl Grey for taking steps to
punish the Indians, it being laid down that ‘ Her Majesty's
Government could not undertake to protect, or attempt to
punish injuries committed upon British subjetts who volun-
tarily expose themselves to the violence or treachery of the
native tribes at a distance from settlements.” Blanshard,
tired of his thankless position, and pleading ill-health and
lack of means, sent in his resignation, which was promptly
accepted in a letter that expressed no regrets at his action
and no appreciation of his services. The colonists, however,
deplored his intended departure and prepared a memorial
setting forth their fears on account of the colony being left
to the exclusive control of the Hudson’s Bay Company.
The memorial was signed by the Rev. R. J. Staines and
fourteen settlers, out of the thirty who Blanshard subse-
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quently said were on the island at the time. The governor’s
resignation was dated November 1850, and the letter of
acceptance, dated April 3, 1851, reached him in August,
nearly ten months later, a circumstance well illustrating the
isolated situation of Vancouver Island in those days. On
August 27, 1851, Blanshard nominated his council, which
was composed of three members—James Douglas, James
Cooper and John Tod. On September 1, sailing in H.M.S.
Daphne, he turned his back on the colony for ever. He is
next heard of giving evidence before the select committee in
the House of Commons in 1857. That he was not so poor
a man as he represented himself to be is manifest from a
paragraph in Begg’s History of British Columbia :

He reached England in due time, and subsequently
lived as a country Gentleman, highly respected, on his
estate near London, dividing his time between the country
residence and the city mansion. Toward the end of
his life his eyesight failed, and before his death he became
totally blind. He died, June 5, 1894. His will, when
proved July 3rd, showed his personal estate valued at
£130,000, or about $650,000.

I1

THE COLONY OF VANCOUVER ISLAND
AND JAMES DOUGLAS

N November 1851 James Douglas was appointed governor
of Vancouver Island. Under the arrangements that
had been made in connection with the grant of this

territory to the Hudson’s Bay Company, the appointment
was almost inevitable, and perhaps at the time the best solu-
tion of the difficulty in respect of a representative of the
crown. Douglas was on the ground ; he was a man of
ability and character; he was familiar with every detail of
the coast and thoroughly understood the Indians and how
to control them. The last mentioned was a very important
consideration, as outside the few settlers and the servants
VOL. XXI %
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of the company there was no other population than the
natives, then very numerous on the island and on the main-
land coast. Moreover, practically all the interests repre-
sented on the island were company interests, and no matter
who was governor it could make but little difference as to
actual results. During Douglas’s dual control of the island
from 1851 to 1858, while there were a good deal of dissatis-
faction and many complaints on the part of settlers and
of servants of the company, in some instances, at least, the
grievances were theoretical rather than actual, and in any
event it does not appear that they were of such a character
that they would not have existed under an independent
governor. The Hudson’s Bay Company was supreme and
its high officials would have snapped their fingers, as they
did in the case of Blanshard, at any attempted local inter-
ference on the part of the crown.

It is interesting to note the personal characteristics and
career of James Douglas, who by common consent was the most
prominent figure of the colonial period of British Columbia
history. The history of the two colonies during the period
of their existence is little more than a history of the life of
James Douglas. Very little is known of Douglas’s younger
days and he has left nothing of autobiographical interest
bearing on his early years. He was born in the West Indies
in 1803. His father was John Douglas, described as a mer-
chant of Glasgow, who, it is said, was descended from the
celebrated Earl of Angus, the Black Douglas of Scottish
history. His mother was born in the West Indies. At an
early age he was taken by his father to Lanark, Scotland,
where he received a portion of his scholastic training. He
was also at school at Chester. At an early age—informa-
tion on this point is not exact, but probably he was sixteen
or seventeen years old—he was apprenticed to the North-
West Company and was sent to Fort William, where Dr
Mc¢Loughlin was stationed, a fact that had a controlling in-
fluence over the rest of his life. When the coalition of the
fur companies took place in 1821, like many others he was,
as already stated, inclined to leave the service and return to
Scotland, but he was induced by Dr M¢Loughlin, who had
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taken a great liking to the lad, to take service with the re-
organized Hudson’s Bay Company. It is stated that he was
slated to go with M¢Loughlin to Fort Vancouver to organize
and administer the Western Department ; but to give him
experience he was sent to New Caledonia, there to be under
the wing of William Connolly, whose daughter, the beautiful
Amelia Connolly, he was afterwards to marry. Douglas
stayed six or seven years in New Caledonia, where some of
his experiences were far from pleasant. He left for the
Columbia River in 1830. Bancroft states that his journey
to the Columbia took place in 1828, but the Rev. Father
Morice, who is the better authority on this particular point,
gives the date as 1830. He became chief trader, accord-
ing to Anderson, in 1833, and was then made accountant at
Fort Vancouver and second in command, so that his rise was
unusually rapid. He was already acquiring a reputation for
his practical grasp of affairs and his familiarity with the
geography of the West, and particularly of the entire coast,
of which it is said that he knew the most minute details.
Thoroughness was one of his distinguishing characteristics
in business and state affairs. In 1845 he succeeded Dr
Mc¢Loughlin as head of the Western Department.

In estimating his place in British Columbia history we
have to take into consideration all the circumstances which
affected his career ; and, having regard to the relatively high
place to which he attained, he may truly be described as
having been a ‘remarkable’ man. In this connection the
writer will be pardoned for reproducing at some length his
own appreciation of Douglas which appeared in a former
work :1

A Scotsman . . . associated during his earlier years with
the members of the North-West Company, who were his
countrymen, he both inherited and acquired many of
those distinguishing characteristics which seem to reflect
the ruggedness and strength of their native mountains,
and much of the picturesqueness and charm of Cale-
donian scenery. Sir James was a large man mentally
and physically. He had alike strength of physique and

1 R. E. Gosnell, 4 History of British Columbia, 1906.
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character. Although at the age of sixteen he sought
the wilds of the North-West in the employ of a fur
company, he had a liberal education, and throughout
his career he aimed to increase his stock of knowledge
and increase his accomplishments. He retained and
strengthened the moral rectitude of his youth. In his
principles he represented the old-fashioned punctilious-
ness in regard to details of all kinds, with progressive
and far-seeing views of business and public policy. He
combined a genius for business with a love of nature,
of family, of literature, of devotion. His love of order,
his respect for the conventionalities of office, his be-
coming self-respect, gave rather too much the impres-
sion of pompous display and an assertion of superiority,
both of which were foreign to his nature. Sir James
loved to magnify the office, but not the man. He was
a strong masterful man, with the faults that such men
have—the tendency to rule with too firm a hand, to
brook no opposition, to be perhaps overbearing, which
traits were unusually developed under the one-man
rule of the Hudson’s Bay Company, and necessary in
the conditions under which that wonderful corporation
carried on its operations over a vast extent of the New
World. He had a good mastery of French, which he
spoke fluently . . . had a wide knowledge of history
and political economy ; conversed with ease and enter-
tainingly ; rose early and walked a great deal ; was ten-
derly devoted to his family ; was constant in religious
exercises, assiduous in the performance of official duties ;
and generally was a man who acted well his part in life
and did honour to his high position in the state. Of
splendid physical proportions and herculean strength, he
had an imposing appearance. He possessed the quality
of personal magnetism in a high degree and exercised
corresponding influence with all with whom he came in
contact. Cool, calculating and cautious, he was also
courageous and prompt to act, combining the dominat-
ing characteristics of Anglo-Saxon and Celt. . . .

To my mind the most remarkable feature of his career
is the development of a character and a personality unique -
in its fulness and strength. It was a character that grew
up in and out of a western soil almost barbaric in rude-
ness and primitiveness . . . and yet so diverse in many
respects that had it not been for its ruggedness and
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strength it might be termed exotic. . . . Launched on a
sea of Far West adventure, entirely removed from the
social influences and culture comforts of his home in
Scotland, associating for years with the uncivilized
Indian tribes of the country, and moulded by the stern
experience of an isolated life on prairie, in forest and on
mountain ; out of touch with the civilizing forces of the
wonderful century in which he began life ; engaged in an
occupation that begat no aspirations of a future that
such a man in other walks of life might reasonably
entertain—with such environment it is remarkable, I
contend, that he should not only retain the accomplish-
ments of his youth throughout life, but increase and
perfect them, acquire a knowledge of many subjects of
an academic nature, and principally of the principles of
political economy and statecraft ; develop a strong liter-
ary style of composition and familiarize himself with the
formalities of government and parliamentary procedure ;
nurture the moral and religious instincts of his youth ;
observe a becoming temperance and abstemiousness ;
cultivate a striking dignity of person ; in the midst of a
busy life, full of practical and unromantic details, keep
abreast of the thought of his day, and that when he was
called upon to fill the responsible and dignified position of
governor of one of Her Majesty’s colonies, without any
previous experience and training for such a post, he
should do so with the utmost ability and acceptability.
It is true that in many of the qualifications possessed
by James Douglas—education, intelligence, tact, force
of character, physical prowess, bravery, resourcefulness,
systematic habits, dignity, moral rectitude—the Hud-
son’s Bay Company service was a splendid school, and
it is only fair to say that our hero was but one, though a
conspicuous unit, of a long list of pioneers in the nobility
of the fur trade to whom history can never do too much
honour. In this respect, however, Douglas was particu-
larly notable, that while he evinced many, if not all, of
the better qualities of men in his class, he was singularly
free from the moral defects and excesses, not unnatural
in a rough and ready school of ethics through which all
alike graduated, that distinguished some of them. In his
day Sir James was undoubtedly remarkable among many
remarkable men, and it is not unnatural to conclude that
under other conditions of life, and with a wider oppor-
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tunity, would have equally distinguished himself as a
man of affairs and as a leader of men. We can, therefore,
honour him not only for what he was in life but for what
he might have been. . . .

Whatever differences of opinion there may have been
among his contemporaries as to his policy as a governor
or whatever may have been the varying estimates of
his character as a man among men with whom he had
personal relations—every strong man has his enemies
and in all politics there is strife—that to-day he is by
general consensus of opinion regarded as the man re-
presentative of his times, the one about whose in-
dividuality must cluster as a nucleus the materials for
the history of the early life of British Columbia, is the
strongest possible testimony to the part he played as a
pioneer and statesman.

All things are relative, and men must be judged by their
opportunities and peculiar environment. It must not be
assumed that Douglas was without faults. In some respects
he fell below the standard that he set for himself. For in-
stance, his treatment of Blanshard cannot be justified except
on the score that he was obeying the instructions of his
superiors in thwarting his plans, and not that he had personal
preferment in view. The Hudson’s Bay Company was cold-
blooded, as corporations mostly are, and as it was the religion
of its officials to give its policy effect, it is to be assumed that
Douglas in his official capacity was compelled to do many
things that from his own point of view were distasteful.
After the fashion of successful self-made men he was egotistical
and in a measure self-seeking. Privately he had many home
virtues which contrasted with his official attitude. His
influence over the Indians was very great, and at his funeral
in 1877 they assembled in large numbers to do honour to his
memory. He was also popular among the miners, with whom
his relations were always satisfactory. In brief, Douglas as
a chief factor or as a governor may be described as a despot,
but an exceedingly benevolent one.

It will now be in order to consider the events which
transpired between 1851 and 1859, the period during which
Douglas combined in himself the responsibilities of headship
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of colonial affairs and of the fur-trading in the Far West. It
will also be interesting to note some of the personalities, as
associates in government and as settlers, who were prominent
figures of this régime. Governor Blanshard, in accordance
with his instructions from the Colonial Office, and as his last
official act, as previously mentioned, appointed a council
consisting of James Douglas, John Tod and James Cooper.
When Douglas became governor, Roderick Finlayson took
his place at the council board. From 1851 to 1856 Vancouver
Island, as a colony, was administered by the governor with
the advice and assistance of this council. As there were few
settlers and as the lands and public works of the colony were
exclusively controlled by the Hudson’s Bay Company, the
duties of the executive were not arduous. Douglas virtually
ruled, but the council on more than one occasion exercised a
restraining influence on a governor inclined to be autocratic.
The council did not meet on stated occasions, but as public
business required.

John Tod, one member of the council, then living in re-
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